

Qatar and the World Cup: a moment for the international advocacy groups to challenge the Kafala system.

Kamal Othman Khalifa, Omar

Citation

Kamal Othman Khalifa, O. (2023). *Qatar and the World Cup: a moment for the international advocacy groups to challenge the Kafala system.*

Version: Not Applicable (or Unknown)

License: License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master Thesis,

2023

Downloaded from: https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3626901

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

Leiden University

MA in Middle Eastern Studies



Title of the thesis: "Qatar and the World Cup: a moment for the international advocacy groups to challenge the Kafala system."

Student: Omar Kamal Othman Khalifa

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. C.A. Ennis

MA Thesis

June 2023

Acknowledgments:

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to some people that have allowed me to get this far: to my supervisor, Dr. C.A. Ennis, for her inestimable help, guidance, and advice throughout this intense period; to my family, for the emotional and financial support; and finally, to Francesca. Without your help and encouragement, I would have never enrolled in this master's program.

Contents

1.	Introduction	5
	Relevance of Research	7
2.	Literature review	8
	The Kafala System	8
	The historical trajectory	9
	The GCC and neoliberalism	10
	Reasons behind the longevity of the Kafala	11
	The exploitation is not exceptional but systemic	15
	How to locate this thesis within the academic debate	16
3.	Theories and methods	16
4.	Chapter 1: Qatar's labour market, Kafala, and the Technical Cooperation Programme with ILO	17
	Kafala system and dual labor market in Qatar, the extreme rentier Qatar	17
	The abuses of migrant workers in Qatar	19
	The 2022 World Cup and the construction sector: pattern, dynamics, reforms attempted	20
5.	Chapter 2: The NGOs' role within the migration corridor from South and Southeast Asia to Qatar	23
	The migration cycle of the corridor South/Southeast Asia – Qatar: the recruitment phase	23
	The migration governance of the South and Southeast Asia-to-Qatar corridor and the Qatari local laws	
	The Role of the INGOs in the migration governance	
	INGOs in action	
	Report (advocacy of supporting units)	29
	Campaigns	
	Online petitions	31
	Demonstrations	
	Lobbying and suing	
6.	Chapter 3: The difficult "marriage" of neoliberalism and human rights	34
	Qatar's neoliberal project from the 2000s until today	
	Major sports events (MSEs) between reputational risks and sensationalism	36
	Pursuing soft power and branding aspirations	
	Competition between GCC states	40
	Effective advocacy campaigning	
	Will the ILO/Qatar technical cooperation change the status quo?	
7.		
8.	Bibliography	47

This page intentionally left blank

1. Introduction

Qatar is a major high-level sports events organizer, and the awarding of the 2022 World Cup on 2 December 2010 by FIFA is only the last of a long series of mega-sporting events hosted in the country. In recent decades, Doha has been the fulcrum of many different sports events, ranging from MotoGP to ATP tennis, from Master's golf to Formula 3000 and the 2006 Doha Asian Games. The latter event has been hailed as one of the most successful and well-organized examples of a mega-sporting event (Adham, 2008, pp. 242-43).

The driving forces behind Qatar's focus on sports events are several. The will to diversify the economy from hydrocarbon sources is one of the main reasons, plainly stated in Qatar National Vision 2030 (QNV, 2008). In this regard, the massive investments and the infrastructure built for this type of event can be leveraged to diversify the economy. While being instrumentalized in promoting a new brand image of Qatar worldwide, these sports events are important catalysts to attract foreign investments and tourism within a climate of intense competition among the GCC countries regarding these latter aspects (Adham, 2008, p. 245; Ziadah, 2018). Moreover, hosting the World Cup can potentially be a strong instrument of sport washing, namely a term coined in 2015 that describes the strategy used by governments to mobilize sport as a platform to grandstand and convey a brand-new image of themselves, diverting attention from their tainted reputation or their bad human right record, as in the case of the authoritarian regimes (Ganji, 2022). Sport washing can be carried out through the acquisition of sports teams (i.e., the Qatar Investment Authority -Qatar's sovereign wealth fund - bought the French Paris Saint-Germain football team in 2012, whereas Saudi Arabia took over the British Newcastle football team in 2020) or through hosting major sports events, as the case of the 2022 World Cup. However, Qatar is not the first authoritarian country to hold such an event to divert attention from political or social issues. In fact, there is a historical record of authoritarian regimes holding this major sport event: in 1934, the World Cup was held in Italy, in 1978 in Argentina, and in 2018 in Russia.

Awarding the 2022 World Cup edition to Qatar has prompted an unprecedented international campaign by INGOs and international media to denounce the abuses against labor migrants in Qatar who work under what has become known as the Kafala regime. Although not a monolithic entity, Kafala can be described as the migration governance regime used in the GCC countries, Lebanon and Jordan. It is a sponsorship system whereby every migrant, to work in the country, has to be sponsored/tied by a company or citizen of the country, which becomes the legal guarantor of the migrant for the whole duration of the stay. This system gave way to many kinds of misconduct and abuses, such as appalling working conditions, passport confiscations, wage thefts, and prohibitions of changing jobs or leaving the country without the employer's approval.

Qatar has always been, historically, a country that relied heavily on foreign labor to satisfy its economy's needs. In fact, since its independence in 1971, the Qatari population has increasingly been a minority in the country. The massive influx of construction workers, especially from the Indian subcontinent, furthered by the World Cup award because of the massive investments and need of construction workers to build adequate infrastructure for the event, has exacerbated this trend (De Bel-Air, 2014, pp. 5-6; Hanieh in Khalaf et al., 2015, 223). The FIFA World Cup, widely regarded as one of the most significant global sporting events, possesses the potential to bring forth a significant legacy concerning human rights violations in host countries (Ganji, 2016, p. 237). By capturing the attention of the entire world, attracting international scrutiny, and exerting pressure on these nations, the tournament can serve as a powerful catalyst for addressing and rectifying such violations. In this regard, Gianni Infantino, FIFA president since 2016, stated in October 2022, a few weeks before the kick-off of the World Cup in Qatar, that this event has helped improve workers' rights in the country (FIFA, 2022). Indeed, the international attention garnered following the selection of Qatar as the host for the 2010 World Cup was instrumental in instigating significant legislative reforms concerning workers' rights and migration within the country in the years preceding the event (IMF, 2022, p.9), such as the introduction of a minimum wage, the prohibition of passports confiscation to labor migrants, and the removal of the employer's approval for migrants to change job and exit the country (Keita et al., 2022, p.7). This outcome can be attributed to the collaborative endeavors of civil society, activists, international trade unions, the International Labour Organization (ILO), and the attention from the international media. Due to the absence of a common framework for international migration governance and the prohibition of trade unions in Qatar, these entities played a crucial role in advocating for reforms, particularly within the construction sector, which faced extensive public scrutiny in the lead-up to the World Cup. As stated by the ILO, TUC, and the global union federation BWI, during the run-up to the 2022 World Cup, the transnational advocacy groups played a major role by bringing forward international pressure against Qatar and promoting a reforming agenda, eventually resulting, in 2018, in the Technical Cooperation Programme between the ILO and Qatar that delivered sweeping reforms in the Qatari labor laws (ILO 2022, pp. 2-3; BWI, n.a.; TUC, 2022). However, extensive reformative changes are not the only possible outcome in this type of scenario. For example, the international advocacy campaign for human rights during the 2008 Olympic Games in Beijing showed how international pressure may not lead to any significant reform (Brownell, 2012). Moreover, as detailed in the literature review, before the scrutiny and reforming momentum due to the 2022 World Cup, numerous scholars have regarded the Kafala system as a sponsorship system that posed significant challenges to its reform or eradication, owing to a multitude of reasons.

In light of these considerations, the thesis is driven by the following research question: why were human rights organizations and campaigns able to push Qatar to undertake comprehensive reform to its migration sponsorship system and labor laws? To understand why Qatar was vulnerable to the twelve-year

advocacy campaigns carried by international NGOs since the awarding of the 2022 World Cup bid in 2010, the thesis will develop as follows: it starts with the literature review about the Kafala system, the object of international pressure; then, the theories and methods used to carry out the research are presented; after that, the first chapter provides a context of analysis by describing the characteristics of the economy and the labor market in Qatar, as well as the sponsorship system, its engendered abuses on migrant workers, the reaction of the transnational advocacy network in the aftermath of the awarding bid in 2010, and the reforms promoted during the technical cooperation between Qatar and the ILO; subsequently, the second chapter describes the recruitment process of the migrant workers and the migration governance that manages the flux of migrants workers from South and Southeast Asia to the Gulf, shedding light both on the role played by NGOs in this framework and their advocacy work in practice; finally, the last chapter, after having briefly introduced the neoliberal project in Qatar, analyzes why Qatar, in the face of the reputational risks, was willing to host the World Cup, and why the advocacy campaign has been effective in prompting a policy change in the country, with some analytical considerations about the changes that these reform have brought; at the end of the thesis, the conclusion will be drawn.

My argument is the following: The state of Qatar, being driven by its neoliberal project, exposed itself to international pressure regarding human rights abuses during the preparations for the World Cup. By aspiring to establish itself as a significant global player, Qatar recognized the necessity of upholding human rights to gain credibility and acceptance from the international community. This compelled the Qatari state to embark on a reform process and address the concerns raised, recognizing the importance of aligning with international labor standards and human rights to solidify its position internationally, shape public opinion and global perceptions, and continue to attract foreign investments.

Relevance of Research

The relevance of the research revolves around analyzing the impact that international pressure can have on a non-democratic rentier state. Within the academic debate, the case of Qatar and the World Cup is one of the most illustrative case studies regarding the potential and limits of reputational pressures at the international level. It can provide further insights into the kind of influence INGOs can apply to these countries' migration and labor policies.

2. Literature review

Despite scholars acknowledging the challenges associated with reforming or eradicating the Kafala system, Qatar took significant steps toward reforming its labor and migration laws between 2018 and 2020. This chain of events raised my thesis research question of what motivated Qatar's commitment to reform and its engagement with the International Labour Organization (ILO) and other labor and human rights campaigns.

Thus, this literature review delves into the Kafala system, providing context and background of the sponsorship system in place in the GCC countries, describing why the scholars thought it is hard to eradicate, and discussing the different interpretations of the issue provided by the academic literature. The neoliberal trend in the GCC, which emerged in the early 2000s, will also be discussed as a crucial factor that contributes to the aforementioned puzzle and aids in its explanation.

The Kafala System

Kafala is the system of migration governance applied in the GCC countries, Lebanon, and Jordan. This mechanism establishes the relationship between foreign workers and their local sponsors (Kafeel). Although the Kafala system is not a monolithic entity, according to Khalaf (2015), it can be generally described as a system that binds the migrant to a local sponsor/employer (private company or citizen), who guarantees that the foreigner has the requirements to reside and work in the country. In fact, one distinctive feature of the Kafala system is that the responsibility for monitoring and surveilling migrant workers, including their adherence to labor and migration laws, is delegated from the state to the sponsor. Under this system, sponsors oversee the activities and compliance of migrant workers with local labor and migration laws. This outsourcing of surveillance places a significant level of authority in the hands of sponsors. However, other important security tasks, such as visa processing, security checks, exit protocols, and policing, are still a prerogative of the government. As explained by Kakande (2015), the foreigner is bound to the sponsor and the job provided by the latter, thereby not allowing free competition in the job market. Every migrant worker can get access in Qatar only with a job contract, and they are tied to it; they cannot change it at will unless they obtain a NOC (Non-Objection Certificate) from their employer. Even in workplace abuse cases, the workers cannot change their job without the NOC. If so, the workers would be denounced by their employer and registered as "absconders," a criminal charge in Qatar that provides for incarceration and deportation. Moreover, the migrants need their sponsor's approval even to obtain an exit permit. The sponsor has absolute power over the migrant in terms of job and movement within and outside the country. Because of this unbalanced relationship between employer and employee, the demeaning working conditions, and the

abuses the migrants have been enduring, the Kafala system has been referred to as a form of modern-day slavery.

The historical trajectory

Al-Shebabi (2019) provides an overview of the origins of the Kafala system and identifies the system's roots within the British colonization period in the Trucial States. The system was an attempt to regulate, in the early 1920s, the immigration of pearling divers who came from without the Gulf; the system was then updated in the 1930s, whereby the British Authorities established that every person seeking a job had to obtain a No Objection Certificate (NOC), a legal document stating that there were no issues regarding the activity the individual would undertake in the country, with the British authorities as the sponsors in those days. In another of his articles, Al-Shebabi (2015) summarizes the different migration phases of the Gulf. The first phase, from 1930 to 1973, corresponds to the first oil boom. In this period, the oil industry, driven by US and UK international oil companies, was built up. The labor required to develop this industry was mainly imported from other Arab countries. The second phase corresponds to the second oil boom, from 1973 to 1985, which was spurred by the two oil crises in the 70s that gave the local Gulf rulers control of the oil wealth and led to the foundation of petro-modernist states (i.e. states that pursued modernization through the oil wealth). As Al-Shebabi (ibid.) described, this wealth was used to build a modern state infrastructure. The required labor force to accomplish the endeavor was not extracted from the natives because a) their number was too small to satisfy the demand, b) it was not desirable to put locals with labor rights under the dictate of the capital, and c) their political consciousness. The result was that non-Arab (South Asian) labor increased in those years, changing the previous pattern that witnessed mainly the importation of Arab labor in the preceding decades. Khalaf emphasized this phenomenon (2015) when he noted that Arab migrants in the region - more than one million in the early 1970s - fell from 72% in 1975 to 56% in 1985 and further to 25/29% in 2002. This trend is further described by Kapisweski (2006). Until the 70s, non-local Arabs, most of the migrants in the region, promoted leftist and pan-Arab ideas. They prompted strikes and revolts for different reasons, ranging from anti-monarch sentiments and lack of legitimacy of artificial Gulf national borders to fairer redistribution of oil revenues. These protests were generally met with deportation and incarceration. Asian labor started then to be seen more favorably: cheaper, less demanding, more manageable, and less politically risky. Consequently, Asian workers in the region increased from 12% of the migrant population in 1970 to 63% in 1985, drawn mainly from the Indian subcontinent. Overall, according to Al-Shebabi (2015), the migrant workers reached over 6 million in 1985 (37% of the region's population and 70% of the workforce), a trend that continued until today (Qatar in 2012 had 94% of the workforce composed by expatriates). The flow of migrants continued to increase in the last two decades of the 20th century, and the Gulf War in 1990 strengthened the trend of replacing Arabs with South Asian labor. By the end of 2000, over 10 million expatriates were in the Gulf. A new boom of migrants characterized the period 2000-14,

thanks to the mega real-estate projects. The construction sector accounted for a third of the expatriate labor force in Qatar in this period, with wages less than half the average of the Qatari public sector.

The GCC and neoliberalism

Al-Shebabi (2015) explained that the mega real-estate projects are a facet of the neoliberal trend that spread in the Gulf as of the early 2000s. Neoliberalism is an economic belief system that strongly emphasizes the value of allowing markets to operate freely to promote economic growth and private businesses through measures such as privatization, deregulation, and liberalization. Friedrich Hayek and Milton Friedman are notable figures associated with this ideology, which emerged as a dominant political and economic framework to achieve development on a global scale as of the 1980s and the 1990s (Williamson, 1990). However, this goal remained on paper. In reality, it has been demonstrated that neoliberalism contributed to compounding global economic inequality (i.e., the polarization of wealth), poverty, and job precariousness (Cahill and Konings, 2017). Neoliberalism strongly supports, among others, the free circulation of capital and freedom of investment (George, 1999). In other words, it encourages the attraction of investments by creating a favorable environment for international capital flows through deregulation, investment incentives, free market policies, and reduced trade barriers. Market efficiency and competitiveness are prioritized at the expense of workers, who experiences more precariousness and fewer rights. Regarding Qatar, this emphasis on the attraction of investment to enhance competitiveness and diversification can also be found in the Qatar National Vision 2030, the country's economic blueprint until 2030 (QNV, 2008, p. 25). These considerations will be paramount in the last chapter of the thesis when Qatar's neoliberal project and the reasons behind the vulnerability of Qatar to the INGOs' advocacy campaigns will be analyzed.

A clear example of the race to the bottom of workers' rights is given by the research of Buckley (2015) when she analyzes the struggles of Asian migrant workers employed in the construction sector of Dubai during the early 2000s. In a competition among consulates in Dubai to market their construction laborers from their native countries, she describes how these consulates extolled workers' features of strength, stamina, masculinity, and ability to endure demanding work conditions based on supposedly ethnonational constructions and political obedience. In other words, a host of embodied attributes make a worker more desirable or exploitable than another based on nationality. It entails a conflict of interests: on the one hand, the consular offices are supposed to advocate their workers' rights; on the other hand, they construct workers' attractiveness on their exploitability.

Reasons behind the longevity of the Kafala

To start analyzing the reasons underpinning the longevity of the Kafala system, a good starting point is the rentier state theory. This theory (Beblawi, 1987) describes a rentier state as a society whose revenues are based on the oil rent (it has to constitute at least 40% of the government GDP), whereby the state/royal family, as the recipient of the oil wealth, is at the apex of a hierarchical division of the society, distributing this wealth (through various subsidies and well-paid public jobs) to the citizens without imposing taxation on them. As political-economic consequences, this theory argued that the distribution of the rent among the local population engendered political acquiescence. In other words, this theory was used to explain the resilience of the regimes of the rentier states in the Gulf. This paradigm was further used by the scholar Michael Herb (2014) to describe how the citizens' dependency for their income on the state's paychecks is a prominent phenomenon among the "extreme rentiers." Based on his analysis, extreme rentiers are those countries that not only are rent (oil or gas) dependent but also enjoy the highest per capita rent incomes in the world, allowing them to employ almost the totality of their citizens in the public sector. This phenomenon produced the most bifurcated labor market cases in the world, where the natives are primarily employed in the public sector, characterized by far better job conditions and salaries than the private sector, filled primarily by foreigners. In the Gulf, Kuwait, UAE, and Qatar are considered in this category. The usefulness of this theory in the thesis is three-fold: firstly, it helps to explain, as mentioned before, the reasons underpinning the strong bifurcation in the labor market in the GCC states. Thus, the Kafala can be seen as one of the instruments to ensure the maintenance of this bifurcation, which preserves citizens' privileged position in the labor market as well as reduces social tensions among Qatari citizens. Secondly, it shows one of the factors contributing to the alleged resilience of the Kafala system. In fact, the rentier state theory explains how the citizens, through the distribution of wealth, depend on state patronage for subsidies and public jobs. These privileges enjoyed by most of the citizens have led to a neglect of other economic sectors, such as manufacturing and services, that are primarily filled by imported labor managed by the Kafala system. Finally, as explained by Khalaf (2015), the Kafala system is one of the instruments the GCC government uses to distribute the state's rent wealth to its citizens. This aspect shows the intertwining between the Kafala and the distribution rationale explained by the rentier state theory.

Besides the rentier state theory, several other explanations regarding the longevity of the Kafala are provided. Khalaf (2015) gives an interpretation that aligns with the rationale of the rentier state theory, especially by putting the government's role at the center of his explanation. He underlines how the nation-state not only controls the borders, visa requirements, and residence permits but also shapes the flows of migration. In his account, the oil revenues allowed Gulf monarchies to combine coercion and loyalty by promoting high dependency among citizens, who compete to access the rent circuit, thereby discouraging

any economic and political initiatives and vertically segmenting the local society. Furthermore, the tool of citizenship is a vital instrument of social control, a system of inclusion/exclusion between citizens and migrants. Citizenship entitled natives to rights and privileges, but it was not an automatic entitlement: citizens perceived as not loyal could have been stripped of their citizenship and benefits. In this sense, as mentioned above, migration became a political tool used in two ways: Firstly, it was used to create a robust market segmentation, where expatriates were employed in the private sector and the citizens in the public sector with far better conditions. By doing that, the state ensured that the citizens relied on the largesse of the ruling family. Secondly, the Kafala system was used as an instrument of patronage and rent allocation whereby citizenship became a source of income through foreign investment ventures - having the obligation of a local partner (a citizen) to conduct business in the Gulf - and through foreign labor migration (ibid.).

Besides, Qatar society has a deep 'demographic imbalance,' a term used to describe the drastic ratio of 9:1 of foreigners over Qatari citizens (Herb, 2014, p. 3). According to "The Economist" in 2013 and a 2019 report by Human Rights Watch, approximately 94-95% of Qatar's workforce consists of foreign workers, totaling over 2 million people (The Economist, 2013; Human Rights Watch, 2020). Given their numbers, the migrants are the engine of Qatar's economy. It is vital for the state to keep them as cheap deportable labor in a vulnerable position for economic and security issues. In fact, migrants in Qatar are not allowed to organize through trade unions, depriving them of an important means to address their grievances (Ten Haar 2018, p. 130). As stated by the IMF regarding the economy of UAE, a country that can be compared socially and economically to Qatar, the flexible labor policy, giving access to a vast supply of labor at internationally competitive wages, has been a key factor in its competitiveness (2005, pp. 13-14).

Furthermore, the Kafala system is a powerful means to establish control over the Qatari population. The rhetoric underpinning the demographic imbalance in Qatar is part of this aspect, as explained by Dorsey (2014): "Abolishing the kafala system would also pull the rug on fundamental policies designed to ensure Qatari control of their state and society and preservation of their culture by effectively segregating Qataris and non-Qataris" (Ibid. p. 1745). Citizenship is a tool for rent allocation, and this division backs this super welfare system in Qatar. Considering sheer numbers, enlarging the citizen base and the number of people who can access the benefits the state grants would make the patronage system unsustainable. Keeping migrants out of any path of citizenship is a specific policy, as Dito (2015) explained. He complains that the Kafala system has been examined only as a regulatory tool misused by employers rather than a hierarchical tool that entails a specific social-political structure in the Gulf societies. He claims that exclusion is an embedded factor of Kafala because of the nature of the rentier system. The beneficiaries of the state largesse cannot be extended to all the population living in the GCC to keep the system sustainable. Because of this policy, exclusion became a pillar of it. This concept is paramount to understanding the evolution of this system, with the delegation of migrants' surveillance to the citizens being another fundamental element of

the system. In this system, sponsors have exclusive legal authority and act as the sole representatives of migrant workers vis-à-vis the state. In his analysis, he underlines the asymmetrical relation between sponsor and migrant, whereby the sponsor has unilateral authority over the entry/exit of the migrant, the renewal of the visa, the cancellation of the work permit, and the possibility of migrants changing employer. Because of it, the state deals only with the sponsor, and the migrant is excluded from any bargain. This unlimited authority is a crucial element of the benefits the sponsors enjoy vis-à-vis the migrants, which would not be possible by employing a citizen in their place. These considerations underline how the Kafala reinforces the citizens' dependency vis-à-vis the state and explain why every attempt to reform the system has been met with protests by employers, as happened in Bahrain in 2010 when a tax on the importation of migrant workers was introduced, or in Qatar in 2020 after the abolition of NOC and the introduction of a minimum wage (Al-Shebabi, 2015; Hamadah, 2022; Diop, 2018; Khalaf, 2015).

Moreover, Dito (2015) also describes the lucrative activities behind the Kafala system in the GCC countries. By doing that, he points out the ways in which employers stand to gain from the labor relationship set up by the Kafala system. The first is the typical path of private sector employment, whereby the sponsor has complete control over the migrant. The employer submits a work permit application to the Ministry of Labour, which issues the working visa and confers an unbalanced power relation to the sponsor at the expense of the migrant, as mentioned above. This path entailed various critical issues. For example, the debt bondage the migrant has to go through before their traveling and hiring caused by the inflated fees of recruitment agencies in the sending countries, the confiscation of the migrant's passport by the employer, the mental abuses, the demeaning working conditions, the nonuniform wage payments, and the limited recourse to the courts due to the fragmented institutional bodies with competence in matter of residence, labor, safety, and housing are illustrative of the migrants' predicament. This unbalanced power relationship thus allows the employer to be able to exploit the migrants to make as much profit as possible, having the like labor opportunity to treat them а commodity. The second path is the migrant (mostly female) working as a domestic servant in a private household, uncovered by any labor law. For a considerable period, the absence of labor laws covering domestic workers allowed local families (sponsors) to exploit houseworkers, resulting in additional profits being extracted at the expense of these workers. The last path is illegal rent-seeking activity. This modality consists of two forms: the first is commercial registration. The sponsor has a commercial activity, usually a tiny grocery shop, under his name and lets the migrant run the activity in his place in return for payment. Instead, in the second form, there is a trade work permit: the migrants are not bound to work for their sponsor but are free to work wherever they prefer after an illicit payment agreement with their sponsor. In this case, it is clear how the Kafala system allowed the creation of a source of income that benefited local sponsors. However, as mentioned, it was an illegal route that took advantage of the little control by local authorities and the fact that the natives themselves were in

charge of the surveillance of migrants. In Dito's analysis, these characteristics of Kafala make reforming this system more than just a legislative issue. Instead, the state/citizen relationship must be addressed. These considerations also explain the results of two surveys conducted among the Qatari population in 2012 and 2015 (Diop et al., 2018). The survey asked whether the Kafala system should be changed, and in both surveys, most of the respondents (more than 80%) preferred keeping the system the same or making it even more strict.

Moreover, the obstacles to reforming the Kafala include the issue of achieving an internationally shared approach to regulating global migration. Migration policy is a politically sensitive issue. The states retained control over the population flows within their borders and the right to access nationality, thereby negating the delegation of this power to any supranational entity (Ennis and Blarel, 2022). To analyze the migration to the Gulf and the elements that influence it, they enlarge the scope of analysis by considering the Asia-to-Gulf migrant corridor rather than the single nation-state. This corridor's governance is scattered throughout a multi-layered and multi-actor space. In addition to various pressures exerted on this corridor, such as global demands for compliance with international labor standards and labor regimes, neoliberal pressures, reputational pressures associated with events like the World Cup in Qatar, and global governance processes driven by organizations like the UN, ILO, and IOM, these factors collectively shape this domain known as the global migration governance complex (Ibid.). Understanding this paradigm is vital for comprehending the theoretical framework of this thesis. Specifically, the emphasis on the role of international organizations and their advocacy in exerting external pressure on nation-states to enact legislative reforms for the betterment of migrant workers' conditions are rooted in the concept of the global migration governance complex, which underscores the significant involvement of civil society and international organizations in addressing this issue. The lack of a shared approach to global migration has led to a vast array of ad hoc arrangements regarding migration governance, which has hindered any attempt to have a homogenized regulation of the phenomenon and to influence individual states' legislation according to international conventions protecting the rights of migrants, as the 1990 ILO Convention on the Rights of Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (not ratifies by the US, West European states, Australia, the GCC, and India). In this regard, it is important to mention The Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration (GCM), the first international agreement that regulates international migration comprehensively. Non-signatory states of the GCM in 2018 include, among others, the U.S., Canada, Australia, and Israel (Ibid., p. 11). While these examples fall within the logic of states seeking to maintain formal authority over migration, what is striking is that among the signatory states of the GCM are all the GCC countries, which, being among the host countries benefiting from this lack of effective governance and cheap unregulated labor, should be against such an agreement.

Hanieh (2015) also adopts a similar global perspective but has quite a different explanation as to why the Kafala system is so hard to eradicate. He agrees with Dito's analysis when he argues that reforming Kafala is not merely a legislative issue. However, rather than looking at the state/citizen relationship, Hanieh focuses his attention on how the global capital system works. To expand his analysis in such a way, he overcomes both the methodological nationalism that influenced the political-economic studies of migration to the Gulf and the neoclassical explanation based on push/pull factors. He claims that to understand this migration corridor, we should instead consider the regional and world-market context and how neoliberalism engendered social transformation and polarization of wealth that encouraged the migration to the Gulf. In his view, the push/pull explanation neglects the exploitation and presents the migration as a positive-sum game. The push from sending countries and the pull from receiving countries should be seen as interrelated rather than separated, with neoliberalism as the main engine. Through his international perspective, he argues that the spatial fix, that is, how the capital overcomes accumulation barriers through spatial relocation, can also be applied to migration. It would entail two main consequences: a) high rates of exploitation through discrimination depending on national origin (different nationalities in the Gulf receive different wages according to the cost of the workforce in their home countries) and through the enormous number of potential workers worldwide that the Gulf societies can draw upon; b) disciplining practices through a constant threat of deportation. The spatial fix worked at the expense of migrants in the Gulf War and the financial crisis of 2008 when they were laid off en masse. Through the strategic position of the Gulf within the global capitalist system, he shows how human rights abuses engendered by the Kafala system are not just failures of governance but a direct consequence of the system itself. As a result, efforts to address any reform of this exploitative system by human rights organizations are unlikely to be successful if they remain focused on government legislation. It is instead a worldwide imperialist systemic issue (Ibid.). It can be noticed that the issue of the Kafala system has been interpreted both through an international perspective in Hanieh's analysis and through a methodologically nationalist and employer-centric perspective in Dito's analysis. Even though the relationship between employer and employee is an important element of analysis to understand this issue, as far as I am concerned, I believe that Hanieh's analysis strikes the core of the issue. In fact, I think that the employer-centric perspective is somehow a limited analysis because the power in the hand of the employer is an outcome of the international order that allowed this kind of sponsorship system to thrive. In other words, without the existence of the latter, the former would not exist. Therefore, even though the employer-centric argument is an important element of the puzzle, it does not explain the roots of the problem but only the consequences.

The exploitation is not exceptional but systemic

The Kafala, as well as the Gulf, has been reified as illiberal and non-modern. However, policies of deportation and racialized exploitation, especially in the construction sector, are widespread worldwide. (Kanna et al.,

2020; Kanna in Kanna et al., 2020; Buckley, 2014). In other words, Western media tried to depict the migrants' exploitation as something exclusively concerning the rentier states in the Gulf, as something exceptional because of the political nature of the regimes there established and of an allegedly Gulf culture that is supposed to favor exploitative conducts. However, throughout the thesis, it will be shown how this is a far cry from explaining the true current state of affairs. The exploitation vis-à-vis the migrants is not endemic in the Arab "illiberal" countries but rather a global systemic issue.

How to locate this thesis within the academic debate

I situate my study within the framework of overcoming methodological nationalism. By doing that, it is possible to enlarge the political-economic analysis and grasp the dynamics of the market-oriented global economy throughout the neoliberalist period rather than focusing on the internal dynamics of a specific country. Neoliberalism has exacerbated the polarization of wealth and job precariousness worldwide (Cahill and Konings, 2017; Hanieh, 2015). In such a capitalist system, enhancing workers' rights is often not seen as beneficial for nation-states, as it may conflict with the principles of neoliberalism that prioritize market efficiency and competitiveness. This introduces a puzzle when trying to understand why Qatar, a nation operating within this system, adopted a reform agenda that, at least on paper, aimed to improve the rights of migrant workers.

3. Theories and methods

The theoretical framework will revolve around the rentier state theory (to understand the type of constraints embedded in the social hierarchy of the GCC states), the overcoming of methodological nationalism (to grasp the global dynamics of the migration process and neoliberalism), and the global migration governance complex (to locate the position of international organizations and INGOs and the pressure they posed on Qatar's Kafala system). Secondary sources will be used to contextualize the issue, ranging from academic articles to news articles. An array of primary sources, such as INGOs and trade union reports, resolutions of supra-national entities, ILO and IMF reports, and the Qatar National Vision 2030 plan, will be used. In particular, the INGOs campaigns' overall goals and the campaigns' effectiveness and obstacles in achieving their goals will be assessed. Qualitative content analysis will be used to gain insights into the messaging and tactics used by INGOs to promote social changes and better understand how these organizations became instrumental in enhancing workers' rights by targeting governments and influencing public opinion.

4. Chapter 1: Qatar's labour market, Kafala, and the Technical Cooperation Programme with ILO

This chapter aims to provide an overall portrayal of the Qatari labor market and its reformative process. First, it discusses the labor market in Qatar; then, it describes the kind of abuses and violations that migrant workers in Qatar have suffered because of the Kafala system; finally, it will describe how the INGOs started to raise awareness about the migrants' plight, the subsequent ILO technical cooperation started between 2017 and 2018, and the limits of the reforms undertaken.

Kafala system and dual labor market in Qatar, the extreme rentier Qatar

As the scholar Michael Herb (2014) explained, Qatar is an "extreme rentier state." With this category, Herb describes those countries which are not only rent dependent but also rent-abundant. The latter is described as the ratio of the oil/rent export revenues to the population. In this regard, Qatar has been endowed with the world's largest reserve of natural gas, the North Field, discovered in 1971 and likely to guarantee steady rent revenues from exportation for centuries (Ibid, p. 29). According to Qatargas, the national company that manages the source, it comprises 10% of the world's known reserves (Qatargas, 2023). This natural endowment, coupled with the very modest size of the national population, allows Qatar to have one of the highest rents per capita in the world (Herb 2014, p. 15; IMF, 2023). This abundant wealth is enjoyed only by Qatari citizens, who formed only 14% (around 250 thousand citizens) of Qatar's residents in 2012 (Al-Shebabi 2015, p. 18), permitting the state to give public-sector jobs to most of its citizens (Herb 2014, p. 20). Public sector jobs, in comparison with the private ones, have higher wages, more benefits, less demanding conditions, and fewer working hours. It is used to distribute the rent wealth that underpins Qataris' high standard of living. That is why, for example, 92% of Qataris were employed in the public sector or SOEs in 2010 (Ibid, p. 21). As explained by Al-Shebabi (2015), in the oil boom after the Second World War, the limited size of the Qatari population, coupled with the challenges posed by subjecting nationals with labor rights to the influence of capitalist principles, made it impractical for them to meet the country's economic requirements. It prompted a massive importation of expatriate workforce, mainly composed of Arabs in the early mid-20th century and South and Southeast Asians from the 1970s until today, the latter seen as a lowpaid and pliant workforce (Kapiszewski 2006, pp. 6-8). As can be seen from the table, India, Nepal, the Philippines, and Bangladesh made up almost three-quarters of the population in Qatar during the period between 2015 and 2016.

Estimates of foreign residents in Qatar by country of citizenship (the five most populous foreign communities, 2015-2016)

Country of citizenship	Estimates (total population)	% to the total population of Qatar
India	650.000	27%
Nepal	350.000	14.5%
Bangladesh	280.000	11.6%
Philippines	260.000	10.8%
Egypt	200.000	8.3%

Source:

Estimates: Gulf Labour Markets and Migration (GLMM).

Percentages to the total population: Personal calculations obtained by comparing the estimates of the GLMM with the total population of Qatar provided by the Qatar Census 2015.

Thus, if the public sector is the main job perspective of Qatari citizens, the private sector is filled mostly by expatriates (Ibid, p. 32). The Qatar Census 2020 (pp 218-220) captures the characteristics of this dual-labor market: Qataris are mainly employed in Government departments or public companies, whereas non-Qataris can be found almost totally in the private sector or domestic work.

Expatriate workers are tied to the migration regime in force in the GCC countries, Lebanon and Jordan, the Kafala, or sponsorship system. Although each of these countries has different laws that govern the expatriate workforce, this system can generally be described as a type of governance that, to grant the migrant access to the country, requires the tie of the migrant to a local sponsor and employer (an individual citizen or a company). The sponsor has both legal and economic responsibility for the migrant throughout the duration of the contract. Thus, the responsibility is outsourced from the state to the private citizen or company. This system makes room for a vast array of abuses at the expense of the migrant. It has been the main focus of international criticism during the run-up to the 2022 World Cup.

However, it is important to emphasize that the exploitations are neither solely a consequence of the Qatari government's authoritarian nature nor the result of the allegedly Gulf's oppressive culture, as the Western media tried to portray it in an Orientalist manner. In fact, similar exploitations vis-à-vis the workers can also be found in the Global North (Babar and Vora 2022, p. 499; Kanna, 2020). Rather, it results from a profit-oriented capitalist mentality, with companies that source foreign workforce from the cheapest sending countries (Ibid., pp. 500-505; Hanieh 2015, p 66, 72; Herb 2014, p. 24). As explained by Babar and Vora (2022,

p.499), this kind of attitude, influenced by "racial capitalism" (i.e., how race steers socioeconomic structures of capitalism), is deeply connected to the British colonial/protectorate legacy of the 19th and 20th centuries (Ibid. 501; Al-Shebabi 2019).

The abuses of migrant workers in Qatar

The Kafala system has been thus internationally criticized because of the abuses at the expense of the low-skilled migrant workers. Abuses can be found as soon as the recruitment process starts from the sending countries. In fact, many workers in Qatar are used to paying high recruitment fees (up to 3,000 USD), even though such high fees are illegal in Qatar. In sending countries like Bangladesh, there is a maximum recruitment fee threshold established by law, whereas, in Nepal, the government struck a bargain with Qatar in 2005 to put the recruitment costs on the Qatari employers; nonetheless, Amnesty's report in 2013 showed how Nepali workers still went through high fees because of a lack of control of the authorities in charge. This issue also points to the endemic corruption in the recruitment industry, which leads to a situation in which the migrants arrive in Qatar under debt bondage, forcing them to work many years only to repay that debt and leaving them without any other feasible solution (ECCHR, 2018, p. 4-5; Damir-Geilsdorf 2016, p 173).

Another issue is passport confiscation. In this case, as well, laws in Qatar forbid this practice. Nonetheless, it is very common: surveys have found that 90% of the interviewed low-income migrant in Qatar had their passport confiscated by their employees, limiting the possibility of leaving the job (Damir-Geilsdorf 2016, p. 178-180). Beyond this illegal aspect, the restriction of migrants' movement was sanctioned by the Kafala system in Qatar until very recently, whereby migrants were not allowed to legally change jobs or leave the country without the approval of their employees through the NOC (Non-Objection Certificate). Regarding the first aspect, if a migrant decides to change jobs without the employer's approval, they become an absconder. They can be charged with criminal offenses, jailed, or deported. (ECCHR, 2018, p. 6).

Furthermore, migrant workers' salaries are often paid late or subjected to discriminatory deductions. In Qatar, salaries are transferred directly into the migrant's bank account, but the employer sometimes confiscates the debit card itself. In order to contrast this phenomenon, the Wage Protection System in Qatar has been implemented to ensure that migrants are paid on time and have control of their accounts. (Ibid.)

Finally, there is the issue of the demanding working conditions that deeply affect the health and safety of workers, and the sheer numbers can clearly indicate that. According to the newspaper *The Guardian* (2021), since 2010, there have been over 6,500 deaths of low-skilled migrant workers sourced from South and Southeast Asia (Philippine migrants are omitted), with an average of twelve deaths per week. However, this figure has been refuted. In fact, it refers to all non-Qataris who have died in the past decade, considering

all the sectors, and not only the South and Southeast Asian migrants working in the construction sector (Deutsche Welle, 2022). Nonetheless, these numbers still show that working conditions in the last decade in Qatar were hazardous at the very least. The extreme heat conditions, the long working hours, the work-related incidents, and the suicides due to mental and physical harassment are among the main causes of work-related

The 2022 World Cup and the construction sector: pattern, dynamics, reforms attempted

On 2 December 2010, FIFA's president Sepp Blatter announced that the 2022 World Cup would be held in Qatar. During the twelve-year run-up to the event, the spotlight has focused on the notorious Kafala system and the treatment of migrant workers. Trade unions, INGOs, and civil society organizations have raised global awareness around this issue with campaigns and reports, especially concerning the workers in the construction sector due to the big investments to build the infrastructures in preparation for the tournament and the massive recruitment of these types of workers which led to skyrocketing numbers of Qatar's population (Economy Middle East, 2022). The burgeoning construction sector has been the main sector in which low-skilled migrants have been employed even before the winning bid for the 2022 World Cup because of the growth of the real estate market in the Gulf since the early 2000s, driven by a will to diversify the economy (De Bel-Air, 2014, p.8). Since the announcement of Qatar's hosting, the main concern of advocacy groups for migrants' rights has been the potential abuses, unsafe working conditions, and exploitation that migrant workers would have gone through during the These warnings became a reality. Human rights violations, wage theft, and hard-working conditions have been reported throughout the last decade; it was facilitated by the Kafala system, which, by empowering the employer to control the legal status and mobility of the migrant he sponsored, systemically fostered these violations.

In the first years of the run-up, there has been a massive quantity of reports denouncing this predicament. The raised awareness around this issue and the complaints voiced by various international advocacy groups led to the submission of a complaint file at the UN-agency International Labour Organization (ILO) against the government of Qatar regarding the violation of Convention no. 29 (Force Labour Convention) and no. 81 (Labour Inspection Convention) in 2014; this, in turn, spurred the ILO into making itself available to furnish technical assistance to the government of Qatar to address the main criticalities concerning the Kafala system through reforms toward more effective compliance with international labour standards (ILO, 2016, pp 1-2; ILO, 2022, p. 2-3).

As a result, after years of negotiations, in 2017, ILO and Qatar started the Technical Cooperation Programme to carry out important labor reforms. In April 2018, the ILO opened its office in Doha. It is crucial

to note that Qatar faces competition with other GCC members and the global community at large in its efforts to attract skilled workers and foreign investments, aiming to foster a diversified and knowledge-based economy. This objective is outlined in Qatar's National Vision 2030, a comprehensive document that delineates the national development plan until 2030 (QNV 2030, 2008). Thus, enhancing the international reputation through adherence to international labor standards has served as a powerful incentive for this collaboration and represents one of the primary channels through which international pressure can influence Qatar's internal policy. The wide-range reforms implemented under this cooperation have addressed multiple critical aspects of the Kafala system, up to the point that the ILO has stated that the Kafala system has been dismantled (ILO 2022, p. 5). Among the most important reforms and newly introduced regulations, workers have the right to change jobs and leave the country without the employer's permission since 2020; a minimum wage was set in 2021 in addition to the obligation for the employer to provide accommodation and food allowance for the migrant workers; the Wage Protection System, established in 2015 to control the regular payment of workers' wages and prevent wage abuses, has been strengthened in 2019 through better enforcement and a wider coverage, in addition to penalties for companies that fail to complain with this aspect; an online complaints platform was established in 2021 to give the workers a venue to address their grievances; joint committees within the companies, composed by the management and workers, were established in 2019 to resolve work-related issues; labor inspections have been strengthened through national policies, training, and campaigns; new legislation to mitigate job-related heat stress during the summer was adopted in 2021, whereby the hours in which the outdoor work is prohibited were augmented; in 2019, 14 Qatar Visa Centers were established in six labor-sending countries to address recruitment-related issues (Ibid. p. 5-21). These results show how the Qatar government, on paper, strove to put in place reforms that other GCC countries have never implemented, helping achieve important results to enhance migrants' condition (ILO 2022). However, it takes time to change ingrained practices and achieve a new socioeconomic balance with the vast array of stakeholders involved in the profits linked to the Kafala system.

Furthermore, there is still much to do to solve migrants' grievances related to the Kafala. For example, several employers have retaliated against workers willing to change jobs through threats of deportation (Ibid. p. 5). More in general, a lack of enforcement of these new measures has been the main problem, and abusive labour environments are still a widespread reality in the country: significant labour and human rights violations have been registered at the expense of migrant workers in World Cup-affiliated hotels, threatened with salary cuts to prevent them for taking days off, fined for mistakes at work, living in overcrowded conditions, exposed to gender-based violence and harassment and to nationally-based wage discrimination, and still paying illegal recruitment fees (Equidem, 2022a; The Guardian, 2022); in August 2022, the Qatari police arrested at least 60 migrant workers who protested for unpaid wages for as long as seven months from construction and hospitality ventures (Forbes, 2022). In other words, employers still find themselves in an upper-hand position vis-à-vis the migrant workers. The latter can be threatened by

canceling their visas and repatriation or being denounced as runaway workers. Enforcing new laws, assuring their compliance, and changing a deep-rooted mentality in which the migrant is seen mostly as a commodity from which extracting profits and benefits, cannot be done overnight.

Laws in Qatar regulating labor and sponsorship and the most relevant reforms related to the World-Cup migrant workers in the period examined

Law	Content
Law No. 14 of 2004 (Qatari Labor Law)	It shall apply to the employers and workers, and prescribe their rights and obligations and regulates the relationship between them.
Law No. 4 of 2009 (Sponsorship Law)	It regulates the entry and exit of expatriates, their residence and sponsorship.
Law No. 21 of 2015	Amendment of the Law No. 4 of 2009 regarding the entry and exit of expatriates. Control of exit visa transferred from the employer to the Ministry of Interior
Law No. 1 of 2017	Amendment of the Law No. 14 of 2004 and Law No. 21 of 2015 regarding aspects of the exit from the country
Law No. 13 of 2017	Amendment of the Law No. 14 of 2004. to improve the scope of the Labor Dispute Committees
Law No. 13 of 2018	Amendment of the Law No. 1 of 2017. Removal of the exit permit for migrant workers
Law No. 17 of 2020	Set minimum wage for all private-sector workers
Law No. 19 of 2020	Amendment of Law No. 21 of 2015: removal of NOC requirement to change job for migrant workers.

Source: ILO (2004; 2015; 2017a; 2017b; 2018; 2020a; 2020b); Qatar Legal Portal (2009)

5. Chapter 2: The NGOs' role within the migration corridor from South and Southeast Asia to Qatar

The aim of this chapter is to illustrate the migration corridor from South and Southeast Asia to Qatar, which plays a significant role in sourcing migrant workers, particularly for the World Cup, and the activities conducted by NGOs in favor of the rights of these migrants. To do that, firstly, I will analyze the recruitment phase of the migrants in their countries of origin in South and Southeast Asia. Then I will describe the migration governance that manages the corridor. After that, I will locate the role of NGOs within this governance. Finally, I will focus on their advocacy in practice, bringing some practical examples. The goal is two-fold. On the one hand, I want to show to what extent this is a transnational phenomenon involving many actors, such as nation-states, NGOs, private recruitment agencies, and brokers. On the other hand, I aim to show the crucial role played by NGOs in advocating for migrant rights and influencing the policy process of Qatar regarding migrant workers' rights. Showing how the NGOs asserted a certain degree of pressure is essential to understand why their pressure has been successful in bringing important changes in labor reforms in Qatar, culminating with the technical cooperation with ILO started in 2018.

The migration cycle of the corridor South/Southeast Asia – Qatar: the recruitment phase

As mentioned before, the focus on this specific corridor is due since most of the migrants recruited to Qatar to fill the construction sector in order to build the infrastructure needed to host the 2022 World Cup were mainly drawn from South and Southeast Asia as temporary migrant workers (De Bel-Air, 2014, pp. 5-6; Migration Forum in Asia 2017, p. 2). This migration corridor has provided over 65% of Qatar's total migrant population, with six Asian countries (India, Nepal, The Philippines, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh, and Pakistan) massively represented in the Qatari construction workforce. This sector has been affected most: in preparation for the 2022 World Cup, Qatar has invested over \$200 billion in real estate and infrastructures related to the event (e.g., eight new stadiums, team base camps for athletes, overhauling of the rail network, a new metro system), an endeavor that required between 500,000 and 1.5 million of foreign workers (Ganji, 2016, p. 222-223). This corridor ensures a steady supply of cheap disposable workers in the lowest rungs of the Qatari economy and a flow of remittances to the migrants' countries of origin. The economic interests linked to the remittances outflow from Qatar – US\$ 9 billion in 2009 (Endo and Afram, 2011, p. 14) - spurred the countries of origin to weaken their worker welfare protections, as documented by ITUC (ITUC, 2015).

This migration cycle consists of four phases: recruitment, deployment, employment, and return. I will briefly focus on the first step, the recruitment phase, to stress how the abuses of migrant workers in Qatar begin well before their arrival and how this issue must be analyzed beyond the nation-state dimension. In

other words, this focus points out that methodologically nationalism is inadequate to study this phenomenon (Blarel & Ennis, 2022, p. 4).

In the recruitment phase, firms operating in Qatar submit a request for a foreign labor force to the Qatari Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs (MLSA). After the authorization to begin recruiting foreign workers, firms can contact Qatari private recruitment agencies to manage the visa process in the migrants' countries of origin. In turn, these agencies engage with manpower agencies in the countries of origin of migrant workers to locate the aspiring migrants and assist them throughout the visa authorization process. However, especially at the rural level, these agencies rely upon intermediaries, that is, labor brokers, who recruit potential migrants from the villages and assist them through the process (e.g., obtaining travel documents, completing applications, organizing the travel from the countryside to the city where manpower agencies are located). Most of these brokers are unlicensed and exist because manpower agencies do not operate in rural areas. Finally, recruitment agencies provide the names of aspirant migrants to the Qatari recruitment agencies (Endo and Afram, 2011, pp. 6-7; Amnesty 2011, p. 24-25). In this phase, many cases of abuse occur, such as charging recruitment fees well above the legal limit and deception over contractual terms regarding the salary or the type of job offered. To pay migration costs, aspiring migrants are forced to take out loans at high interest. The indebtedness in which the migrants occur is a key factor that pushes them into exploitation and forced labor once they arrive in Qatar (Amnesty 2011, 33-36).

The migration governance of the South and Southeast Asia-to-Qatar corridor and the Qatari local labor laws

The migration governance of the South and Southeast Asia-to-Qatar corridor, namely the framework of laws, regulations, and policies adopted to regulate the migration, settlement, and returns between the Asian countries of origin and Qatar, is a highly fragmented, complex, and disputed issue. The main problem affecting the development of a well-regulated migration process within this corridor is the lack of willingness, on behalf of the nation-states, to delegate their migration policies to multilateral institutions (Piper et al., 2018, p. 125). The main reason behind this resistance is the desire to maintain national sovereignty over migration policies and regulations and the consequent unwillingness to rely upon legally binding agreements. In other words, governments are careful to avoid interfering in their migration policies and maintain the ability to control the migration flow within their national borders (Geiger, 2015, p. 192; Piper & Grugel, 2015, p. 267; Blarel & Ennis, 2022, p. 9, 13). The result of this type of approach to migration governance is the lack of a comprehensive multilateral framework, whereby international migration is divided into many different regimes characterized by ad hoc arrangements, that is, non-binding Memorandums of Understanding and bilateral agreements revolving around economic and security issues (Blarel & Ennis, 2022, p. 9; 11; 16). This

focus prioritizes market liberalization over protecting migrants' human rights (Piper et al. 2018, p. 126); these agreements do not challenge the economic structure underpinning the unequal development but focus solely on managing the migration flows. Moreover, these ad hoc arrangements, if established stronger protection for migrant workers of a particular sending country, may prompt deleterious competition between these countries, with destination countries turning to labor-sending countries with lesser protective measures toward their migrant workers (Migration Forum in Asia, n.a., p. 7).

Due to the reluctance to bind themselves to formal multilateral arrangements, governments resorted to regional consultative processes (RCPs). Related to the migration corridor object of this chapter, the two most relevant processes are the Colombo Process and the Abu Dhabi Dialogue, which are avenues that provide a non-binding environment to discuss and foster cooperation on labor migration issues, bringing together representatives of states, supra-national organizations, and NGOs. The Ministerial Consultation on Overseas Employment and Contractual Labor for Countries of Origin (Colombo Process) was established in 2003 in Colombo, Sri Lanka, gathering a total of eleven member states: Afghanistan, Bangladesh, China, India, Indonesia, Nepal, Pakistan, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Thailand, and Vietnam. The themes addressed in this RCP are protecting migrant workers, enhancing labor mobility, sharing experiences and best practices in labor migration management, and improving data collection and inter-state cooperation (Piper & Rother, 2022, p. 2938; Migration Forum in Asia, n.a.). The Ministerial Consultation on Overseas Employment and Contractual Labor for Countries of Origin and Destination in Asia (Abu Dhabi Dialogue) was established in 2008 and consisted of the member states of the Colombo Process with the addition of six Gulf countries (Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and UAE) and Malaysia. Thus, unlike the Colombo Process, it also includes the main countries of destination of migration. The objectives of this RCP are similar to the Colombo Process ones, namely, sharing experience, developing partnerships, cooperation, and dialogue among the stakeholders (Abu Dhabi Dialogue, n.a.).

Passing from a regional to a holistic level, the most notable agreements are the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly, and Regular Migration (GCM) and the ILO international labor conventions. The GCM is the first agreement ratified by a majority of states, adopted in 2016, to cooperate on international migration. Still, the little consensus over the policy guidelines, their implementations, and the lack of ratification by key actors (such as the U.S. and Australia) have hampered its efficacy (Blarel & Ennis, 2022, pp. 10-11). The ILO conventions provide some of the most relevant policy frameworks in international law regarding migrant rights. ILO has been a UN norm-setting international organization since its establishment in 1919; its primary task is to set and promote international labor standards on labor migration (Piper & Foley, 2021, p. 261; Blarel & Ennis, p. 10). Qatar has been a member of ILO since 1972. However, the lack of ratification of critical ILO conventions (ILO website), such as, among others, the Convention (No. 97) on Migration for Employment, which provides a general framework for the protection of migrant workers, the Convention (No.143) on

Migrant Workers, which deals with the extension of fair and decent working condition for migrant workers, and the Convention (no. 189) on Domestic Workers, dealing with the protection of this particular category of workers, has limited the upholding of international legislative frameworks that could better protect and enhance the conditions of migrant workers in Qatar. Another important international agreement to mention Qatar has not ratified is the Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Family, adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1990, providing a framework for the protection of the human rights of all migrant workers and their families (ONHCR Website).

Thus, it is clear that international organizations have no legal power to enforce their frameworks; the actual legislative jurisdiction resides at the state level. This consideration is crucial, especially when considering the circumstances in which major sports events such as the World Cup occur. Domestic law is the main legally binding source for national sports bodies, host local entities, private contractors, and sponsors, upon which international human and labor rights standards do not apply automatically (Heerdt, 2011, p. 10). In Qatar, the most important laws that regulated labor and migration aspects before the technical cooperation with ILO in 2017 were the Law No. 14 of 2004 (Labor Law), which regulated employment; Law No. 4 of 2009 (Sponsorship Law), which regulated the entry, exit, residence, and sponsorship of migrant labor, and the Law No. 21 of 2015 (the amendment of the Law No. 4), which regulated similar aspects of the Sponsorship Law in addition to dealing with the worker welfare protections required in Qatar (Ganji, 2016, p. 227).

As a result, the governance of this migration corridor is a complex structure of legal norms that are unevenly recognized and applied by countries of origins and destinations, on multiple layers, from national and sub-national to supra-national levels. The uneven adoption of international conventions makes establishing and enforcing a global common standard on labor migrant rights hard. After having provided a general outline of the migration governance underpinning the (un)regulated migration corridor from South and Southeast Asia to the Gulf (in our particular case, Qatar), I can now pass on the role of the INGOs in this transnational space to understand their positionality within this frame, what is their role, and how thev can influence the national policies.

The Role of the INGOs in the migration governance

The lack of common regulation that characterizes the Asia-to-Gulf migration corridor and the reliance by nation-states on nonbinding commitments regarding the area of labor migration has left important gaps in migrant rights protection. As a result, this status quo has exposed migrants to exploitative factors. In this regard, the category of temporary transnational workers, such as the construction workers who emigrate from South and Southeast Asia to Qatar, is particularly affected by the fragmented migration governance.

Furthermore, the desire to uphold labor migration policies within the framework of the nation-state, which is often seen as the final stronghold of national sovereignty in an era of globalization, is an additional factor that impacts this particular group of workers.

Traditionally, labor rights have been mainly discussed on the national level, with the government being considered the paramount actor tasked with protecting its citizens through enforcing and supervising labor laws. However, this protection mechanism has usually been associated with citizenship (Seidman 2004, p. 109). That is the reason why transnationally labor migrants came to find themselves in an unfavorable position in this type of regime: they do not possess citizenship of the hosting state – all the more relevant in the Qatari case, as explained in the chapter before when describing the functioning of the Kafala system and how citizenship is the main dividing line through which establish who can enjoy or not certain economic and legal benefits – so they come to be excluded from the country of destination's protection. In addition, it is crucial to highlight that the countries of origin of these migrants have often failed to provide adequate protection for their migrant workforce. One such example is The Philippines, where remittances play a significant role in the national economy. However, the forces of the global market, driven by private actors pursuing neo-liberal and free-trade principles, have contributed to a deregulation of the country's labor export industry. This shift towards privatization has allowed the government to absolve itself of responsibility regarding the welfare of its migrant workers (Ball and Piper, 2002, pp. 1020-22). In fact, within a purely competitive rationale, the more the countries of origin weaken their protective measures vis-à-vis their migrant workers, the more the latter would become an attractive workforce to be recruited by countries of destination such as the GCC countries, which have already displayed their tendency to draw on foreign workforce according to this logic.

Considering this type of situation, INGOs' paramount role in the labor migration field is clear. These movements grew rapidly since the 1990s, partly as a response to the global decline of trade unions and the casualization of the workforce within neoliberalist dynamics (Piper & Grugel, 2015, p. 265). Due to a lack of international cooperation and fragmented national interests that neglect the welfare of non-citizens and do not tackle migration from a perspective of migrant rights but from a depoliticized managerial perspective, these organizations have entered the arena to provide assistance and advocate in favor of the marginalized international workforce (Geiger, 2015, p. 193; Piper & Grugel, 2015, p. 263-264; Piper & Rother, 2022, p. 2930). Their work of advocacy, aimed at pressuring states and mobilizing public opinion, made the global civil society movements an important factor in the migration governance within the corridor from South and Southeast Asia to Gulf. Their endeavor has been an important element in promoting legal reforms that enhanced the conditions of migrant workers in the GCC during the decade preceding the 2022 World Cup (Stella Morgana, 2022, p. 218; Ter Haar, 2018, p. 131).

After having briefly outlined the position of the INGOs within the migration governance framework, I will go on by analyzing the way in which these organizations have tried to influence the Qatari policy during the run-up to the 2022 World Cup.

INGOs in action

INGOs are important players and sources of valuable information regarding the plight of migrant workers, who are trapped between discriminatory policies of destination countries and the economic needs of origin countries, which are more interested in managing a steady outflow of migrants to grant economic remittances for their national economies rather than protecting the rights of their citizens. However, even though they had the willingness to do so, their economically weak position vis-à-vis the destination countries and the competition among origin countries in providing the cheapest and most flexible temporary workers to the destination countries would hamper any attempt of this kind (Piper & Gruger, 2015, p. 264; MFA, n.a., p.

One of the main shortcomings of the multilateral governance of labor migration is the managerial approach embedded in it. As mentioned above, this approach mainly focuses on managing a steady and smooth flow of migrants from their countries of origin to the ones of the destination while neglecting the abusive work conditions and the deficient and poor labor standards endured by migrant workers. Conversely, the INGOs, tackling these issues, propose an alternative vision of labor migration governance: the so-called rights-based approach, counterposed to the traditional managerial approach of the nation-states. This effort allows the INGOs to politicize the global migration area and contrast the attempt by neoliberal narratives to depoliticize the issue and pose it as merely a managerial problem that can be solved with the right policies without overhauling the entire functioning of the economic system underpinning the abuses (Piper & Rother, 2022, p. 2930-2931).

Major sports events are important opportunities for NGOs, which can leverage the global spotlight, the global scrutiny, and media coverage afforded by these types of manifestations to denounce and raise awareness about human rights abuses related to the event, making the unheard voice of the vulnerable swathe of the population loud. The 2022 World Cup in Qatar has not been the exception to the rule, as already happened in the recent past on the occasions of the 2008 Olympics in Beijing or the 2012 Olympics in London, with Amnesty International and Human Right Watch among the main NGOs involved in the scrutiny and contestations (Brownell, 2012; Timms, 2012). In the first case, the social issue was the lack of commitment on behalf of the Chinese government to engage in human rights; in the second case, NGOs advocated for more protection and enhanced standard labor rights in the global garment industry that supplied the Olympics.

The 2022 World Cup, as one of the major worldwide MSEs, has been used by human and migrant rights groups, as well as international media, as a platform to raise concerns over the appalling conditions of working migrants employed in Qatar, especially the ones in the construction sector, since between 500,000 and 1 million additional workers have been needed to complete the required infrastructure for the World Cup. The World Cup bid has catalyzed labor reforms, triggering global advocacy by civil rights groups like Amnesty International, Human Rights Watch, and ITUC. Their voices raised on this international platform provoked a global outcry and prompted investigations by norm-setting international bodies like the ILO. This led to future technical cooperation between ILO and Qatar for delivering important labor reforms. Here, I will briefly outline how these advocacy groups operated during the run-up to the 2022 World Cup.

Report (advocacy of supporting units)

Reports have been used to provide data and information about the plight of migrant workers in Qatar, thereby raising awareness about this type of issue, both directed to the public audience, the governments, FIFA, business companies involved in the World Cup, and IOs. Throughout the decade preceding the 2022 World Cup, a vast array of reports have been produced on the conditions and abuses of migrant workers in Qatar. The data of these documents are usually obtained by INGOs through interviews with workers on the spot (in their accommodation or worksite), but also from the Ministry of Interior and Labor of Qatar and interviews with government officials. The summary of the reports is also transmitted to the government of Qatar in order to have a response to the violations that emerge from the research.

In the aftermath of the awarding of the World Cup's bid to Qatar in 2010, Human Rights Watch, an important international INGO that carried out similar campaigns of protests against the violation of human rights and labor standards on the occasion of other major sports events in the past, published the report "Building a Better World Cup: Protecting migrant workers in Qatar ahead of FIFA 2022" in 2012 (HMW, 2012). The report, based on 73 interviews with migrants and meeting with representatives from the Labor Ministry, the Qatar National Human Rights Committee, and diplomatic staff (ibid, p. 28-29), focused on various issues regarding the poor treatment of migrant workers in Qatar employed in the construction industry, such as poor working conditions in construction sites, ranging from dangerous work environment to limited access to healthcare (p. 66-69); the problem of the recruitment fees, charged on migrants to the benefits of both recruitment agencies in labor-sending countries and in Qatar, forced to borrow at high-interest rates and put them in a vulnerable condition because the need to repay the loan (Ibid., p. 52-55); substitution of the contract, with consequently deception on the salary and the type of job one is employed (Ibid. p. 57); low wages, nonpayment, and underpayment of wages (Ibid. p. 62); poor living conditions in labor camps (Ibid. p.

65); the widespread practice of passport confiscation (Ibid. p. 73); obstacles to redress the abuses to the competent authorities (Ibid. p. 77-85); and finally, the issue related to the sponsorship system or Kafala, which, before the reforms brought under the cooperation between ILO and Qatar, restricted migrant workers' ability to change jobs even in abusive conditions – if they left the job without the employer's permission, they become absconded, illegal residents, thus facing criminal charges and the threat of deportation - and to leave the country (Ibid. 69-75). Throughout the period in which the report was drafted, HRW inquired the Qatari state, FIFA, the Supreme Committee, the US firm CH2M Hill tasked with overseeing the World Cup 2022 facilities, and other companies with construction management responsibilities related to the World Cup locations such as Aspire Logistics and Bechtel, in order to have a response on the issues, obtain further data, and to pressure them into some reforming actions. This is only an example of the multitude of reports produced throughout the decade preceding the World Cup 2022 by Human Rights Watch, Amnesty, ITUC, and several other advocacy groups and international media. The reports elicited an international response, such as the European Parliament's resolution adopted in 2013 to address the migrants' plights in Qatar (European Parliament, 2013).

Campaigns

Campaigns are another useful tool to raise awareness about social issues. In particular, they are an instrument for raising awareness among the global audience, thereby pressuring governments and international organizations to take action.

One of the biggest campaigns that took place during the run-up to the World Cup 2022 is "Playfair Qatar," initiated by ITUC in 2014, focusing on the predicament of the construction workers employed in the 2022 World Cup-related construction projects. Play Fair is a global campaign comprising several international trade union federations and NGOs. The launch of Playfair Qatar followed the successful initiative of "Playfair Brazil" in 2012, waged in relation to the World Cup 2014 in Brazil (Salazar et al., 2017, p. 121). The campaign "Playfair Qatar" sought to raise awareness faced by migrant workers in Qatar, pressure FIFA to take the appropriate measures to tackle the issue, and promote wider reforms to Qatar's labor laws and the abolition of the Kafala system (Russell, 2017a; 2017b; 2022). Practically speaking, the campaign consisted of football fans around the world taking pictures with posters that read "Qatar, Play by the Rules," "FIFA, Stop Foul Play in Qatar," and the like, to send the pictures to Playfair Qatar's website eventually. The campaign has been a major focus of the ITUC's work in recent times, including research to expose the abuses, advocacy work, and activities of pressure on FIFA to include workers' rights enhanced standards in its sports events, building momentum for change and reform actions. Playfair Qatar also targeted FIFA's eight big sponsors (Adidas, Gazprom, Hyundai, Kia, McDonald's, Budweiser, Coca-Cola, and Visa) to use their position to urge Qatar to

reform the Kafala system (Hann, 2015; The Guardian, 2015). Overall, the campaign reached important goals: bringing attention to the poor working conditions faced by migrant workers in Qatar, helping to bring reforms to Qatar's labor laws, and pressuring FIFA to take a more proactive role in overseeing working conditions and human rights monitoring.

Another initiative that brought pressure upon FIFA is the global campaign #PayupFIFA, launched in 2022 and joined by important international advocacy groups (Human Rights Watch, Amnesty, FairSquare), in addition to a global coalition of rights groups, unions, and fan groups all over the world. The campaign demanded that FIFA provides financial compensation (\$440m) for the abuses suffered by migrant workers (deaths, unpaid wages, recruitment costs). However, despite the widespread support, endorsed even by Adidas, one of the main FIFA sponsors, FIFA refused to compensate workers, although, from their exploitation, it generated profits of up to \$7.5 billion (Business and Human Rights Centre, 2022; Equidem, 2022b).

Online petitions

In 2014, the anti-slavery organization Freedom United, partnering with ITUC, launched an online petition. The goal of the petition was to call on FIFA to use its position to grant future World Cups free from slavery, starting with Qatar, abolish the Kafala system, and improve working conditions, with the impressive support of 141.030 petitions (Freedom United, n.a.). This action and the other advocacy campaigns helped put pressure on FIFA, which recognized the issue. In 2017, FIFA established the Human Rights Advisory Board to oversee the respect of human rights standards in its events.

Demonstrations

Mass demonstrations are another venue to increase public awareness of the abuses and put pressure to address the issue. One of these demonstrations, "Red Card for FIFA," occurred in Zurich in 2013. The protesters rallied outside FIFA's headquarters carrying red cards and banners asking to revoke the bid for the World Cup to Qatar, accusing FIFA of connivance over the rights abuses and of putting profit rationale ahead of people's lives (The Tribune, 2013).

Lobbying and suing

In March 2014, during the 320th session of the ILO Governing Body Conference in Geneva, ITUC and Building and Wood Workers' International (BWI) submitted complaints against Qatar over the issue of workers' rights,

the Kafala system, and the prohibition to joining unions and strike, based on the non-observance by Qatar of the Forced Labor Convention, 1930 (No. 29) (ILO, 2014). Because of the commitment made by INGOs and the international community in pressuring Qatar, the government agreed to reform the sponsorship system in 2015 with the new sponsorship law no.21, although the law failed to bring meaningful reforms to the Kafala (HRW, 2015), which remained unchanged until the breakthrough cooperation with ILO in 2018.

Another interesting case happened in 2016 when the Netherlands Trade Union Confederation (FNV), the country's largest trade union, representing a former Bangladeshi migrant worker in Qatar, Nadim Shariful Alam, sued FIFA in the Swiss court. Alam's story is common to many other migrant workers in Qatar: thanks to a loan and the mortgaging of his land, he paid a recruitment agency in Bangladesh almost \$4.000 to work as a construction worker in Qatar in 2014; he was fired in 2016, so forced to return in Bangladesh because of the Kafala system that prohibited migrants to change employer without the employee's approval while in Qatar; because of his dismissal, the company that had hired him reimbursed only less than 10% of his recruitment fees. The case, also joined by the Bangladesh Free Trade Union Congress (BFTUC) and the Bangladesh Building and Wood Workers Federation (BBWWF), argued that FIFA had not imposed any condition on Qatar on the occasion of the awarding bid in 2010 to ensure better protection of construction workers' rights. However, the Swiss court eventually rejected the sue (Compliance Week, 2016; Business and Human Rights Centre, 2016).

To sum up, these examples are in no way meant to be comprehensive but only illustrative of how the INGOs and the advocacy groups voiced their demands and pressured Qatar and the international bodies to make reforms during the period preceding the ILO technical cooperation with Qatar, which started in 2018, thereby influencing the policy process and enhancing migrants' conditions, with the exception of the #PayupFIFA campaign, initiated in 2022. In particular, I selected these kinds of campaigns for various reasons: Playfair Qatar is a campaign with a legacy since it followed the successful initiative of Playfair Brazil, thereby denoting its effectiveness and its global reach, and it is definitely one of the most advertised initiatives carried out by the INGOs since 2010; #PayupFIFA gained strong traction on social media and the support of Adidas; Freedom United's online petition had a wide reach and engagement, it prompted massive public support, with more than 140.000 supporters, contributing to raising public awareness on the issue; Red Card for FIFA is an important demonstration that took place in Geneva, generating international attention through a popular visual image such as the red card used in football. I think that selecting a range of campaigns using different tactics and methods has shown how the action of the advocacy groups unraveled during this decade of contestations. In some cases, it has also pointed out the importance of the Internet and social media in enlarging the range of these campaigns, rendering them more effective and widespread. These endeavors helped raise awareness, mobilize public opinion, and increase pressure to accelerate the reform process in Qatar.

In the next chapter, I will finally be able to analyze why the international advocacy campaign succeeded in its international pressure and, more importantly, why Qatar accepted this partnership with ILO, thus trying to answer the research question of the thesis.

6. Chapter 3: The difficult "marriage" of neoliberalism and human rights

This chapter is devoted to the analysis aimed at understanding Qatar's motivation for hosting the World Cup and their motivations for being influenced by the INGOs' campaigns as well as engaging with the ILO through the Technical Cooperation started in 2018.

My argument is the following: the state of Qatar made itself vulnerable to international pressure in dealing with human rights abuses and beginning a reform process during the run-up to the World Cup because of its neoliberal project, which compelled the Qatari state itself, in order to become a primary player in the international stage, to uphold human rights in order to be credibly and accepted by the international community. In fact, the lack of engagement with human rights can harm the country's international reputation and its economic trajectory, negatively affecting the perceptions of investors and consumers. In order to unfold this reasoning, I will develop this chapter as follows: firstly, I will outline the neoliberal project of Qatar to understand the pillars upon which this political-economic trajectory relies. Then, I will explain the reasons why Qatar wanted to host the 2022 World Cup, the politics of enhancing the government's soft power, and the reputational risks attached to this sport event. After that, I will be more specific in explaining the specific reasons why, on the one hand, Qatar has been vulnerable to advocacy campaigns and, on the other hand, why the INGO campaigns have been effective. Finally, I will present an argument dealing with the reforms put in place during the ILO cooperation with Qatar since 2018, trying to reconcile the commitment to human rights on behalf of Qatar with its neoliberal trajectory.

Qatar's neoliberal project from the 2000s until today

Although the GCC countries facilitated the spread of neoliberal policies throughout the MENA region during the 1970s and the 1980s and benefitted from the opening up of the region engendered in these projects (Hanieh 2015, p. 63), we cannot talk of neoliberal policies applied to the GCC countries until the early 2000s, when for the first time the rentier economies of the Gulf started pursuing long-term economic development goals connected to the privatization and the promotion of free, open, and deregulated markets, with the goal of enhancing economic growth, global competitiveness, and the specific issue related to these countries, that of diversification away from the oil economy. In fact, during this period, when privatized real estate megaprojects and privatization, in general, took off, the 'free market' mantra took root in the region. However, the drawing line dividing the public and the private in the GCC is muddy (Al-Shebabi, 2015, pp. 32-34).

Qatar's neoliberal project is enshrined in the Qatar National Vision 2030 (QNV), launched in 2008, defining the long-term goals for the country and providing a blueprint upon which national strategies and

policy plans will be developed. The aim of this framework is to transform Qatar's economy by 2030 into a knowledge-based economy and a hub for international businesses while diversifying the economy away from hydrocarbon resources and attracting skilled labor from abroad. Overall, this strategy focuses on key points, such as steering the economy away from the hydrocarbon industry and toward new industries such as tourism, education, and real estate; attracting foreign investment and international businesses; pursuing privatization and deregulation. The QNV 2030 also offers the opportunity to notice a subtle shift in the Qatari government's approach vis-à-vis its citizens. Unlike previous approaches that focused on protecting citizens from economic changes during the early years of the oil industry (Al-Shebabi, 2015), the QNV 2030, by investing in their human capital and fostering entrepreneurship, emphasizes the active engagement of citizens, allowing them to take part in and benefit from new economic developments. In other words, the vision shifts from a protective stance to an encouraging one, where Qatari citizens are safeguarded and encouraged to actively participate and profit from the country's progress. These developments rely upon the strong presence of the government in supporting and funding these strategies.

Economically, as explained above, Qatar's neoliberal project has engendered a focus on privatized real estate mega-projects that involved significant investments in infrastructure, including the construction of ports, highways, and airports to posit itself as a logistic hub (Ziadah, 2018), as well as world-class sporting facilities and tourist attractions. Moreover, the country sought to establish a friendly business environment by offering incentives to foreign investors, free economic zones to attract foreign companies, and tax exemptions to encourage investment (Ibid.).

Considering this neoliberal project, the reasons behind Qatar's hosting of the 2022 World Cup become clear. It acted as a catalyst for economic growth and investment in infrastructure, accelerating the development of tourism and hospitality industries with the construction of hotels, residential and commercial properties, entertainment venues, tourist-related infrastructures, and the like (ITUC 2015b, p. 8), and leveraging the event to provide a strong stimulus for foreign investments (Ibid, p. 18), as exemplified, inter alias, by international hotel chains such as Marriott or Hilton opening new locations months before the inauguration of the football tournament (Qatar Tribune, 2022; The National News, 2022), the construction of the new Red Line North metro in Doha, which included a consortium of Italian and South Korean companies (MEED, 2013), and the Hamad International Airport, whose construction involved a joint venture between companies from Turkey and Japan (Zutec, n.a.).

Thus, from this account, it becomes straightforward that this neoliberal development is underpinned by a strong need for global attraction, whether in terms of tourism, businesses, skilled workers, or foreign investments. The market has become global, and the more a country can attract resources from abroad, the better it will position itself in the neoliberal global race. In order to do that, it is clear how important it is for a state to present itself as an actor that respects internationally recognized values as human rights. Without

a commitment to these principles, tourism can be negatively affected, and companies can be spurred to direct their investments somewhere else in order to avoid any negative publicity or the so-called reputational risks.

Major sports events (MSEs) between reputational risks and sensationalism

The 2022 World Cup is not the first major sport event held by Qatar, which used sports events to brand itself as a hub for sports, tourism, and entertainment. MotoGP, ATP tennis, Master's Golf, and the Asian Games in 2006 are just a few examples of the sports events Qatar hosted recently. However, none of them is comparable to the World Cup in terms of significance and international scrutiny. Hosting the 2022 World Cup subjected Qatar to extensive global scrutiny, consisting of a twelve-year global advocacy campaign from 2010, the bid award, to 2022, the tournament's inauguration. This campaign was in response to the working conditions and human rights violations of migrant workers used to build the required infrastructure for the football tournament. These violations, connected to the sponsorship system, the Kafala, that was in place in Qatar until the technical cooperation with the ILO in 2018, attracted international attention by framing this system as an issue of forced labor and modern-day slavery.

As explained in the previous chapter, major sports events (MSEs) are platforms routinely used by advocacy groups to raise awareness toward particular social issues, such as the violation of human rights. The 2022 World Cup in Qatar, as the most important major sport event worldwide, has not been the exception to the rule, as already happened in the recent past on the occasions of the 2008 Olympics in Beijing or the 2012 Olympics in London, with Amnesty International and Human Right Watch among the main NGOs involved in the scrutiny and contestations (Brownell, 2012; Timms, 2012). These groups leverage the media coverage and government scrutiny that such MSEs make available for the short to medium term, thereby bringing abuses and violations to the front line of public opinion, spurring a causal chain that posited the 2022 World Cup as an alleged catalyst for positive change for migrant workers by allowing for the technical cooperation between Qatar and the ILO, thereby initiating labor reforms and the reformative process of the sponsorship system (Al Thani, 2021, p. 1746). In fact, global scrutiny jeopardized the 2022 World Cup by leaving a negative image and reputational damage, which the Qatari state has addressed through a PR strategy that posited the World Cup as an occasion for development and change, and through collaboration with NGOs, trade unions, and international organizations to showcase a commitment to protect workers' rights. Respecting human rights has been paramount in presenting Qatar as a credible actor on the international stage, especially with the kind of exposure that Qatar was subjected to during the preparation for the tournament.

This kind of scrutiny does not solely involve the hosting government but companies as well. Businesses have a brand through which they present themselves in the marketplace to the consumers, and human rights violations connected to a company could tarnish its reputation. For example, CH2M Hill, an American firm that was contracted by the Qatar Supreme Committee (the organizational body established in 2011 and responsible for the delivery of the required infrastructures and for overseeing the planning operations linked to the 2022 World Cup) to supervise the construction projects, went several times under scrutiny of advocacy groups (Ganji 2016, p. 242); similarly, Amnesty International in 2013 criticized SEG Construction (based in Beirut) and Krantz company (based in Florida) because of the poor treatment of their workers in Qatar, and the BBC criticized in 2014 on a similar issue the British building contractor Carillion for inadequate health and safety equipment as well as passport confiscation (Millward 2017, pp. 764-770). In this regard, a report indicates that 97% of companies consider reputational risks linked to worker abuse the key driver for a company's remedy actions on modern slavery (Theron, 2022, p. 197).

Moreover, besides the condemnations tied to the human rights abuses, Qatar has been subjected to a harsh campaign that could be labeled discriminatory and biased. On the one hand, the human rights violations have been rightly framed by Western media as a slavery issue, when at the same time, the record of other neighboring countries has been ignored, as pointed out by the statement of a Qatari official: "I'm not saying we have the best human rights in Qatar, but we are a great deal better than Saudi or the UAE." (Al Thani, 2021, p. 1739). Even though this statement cannot be taken at face value, it should be recognized that Qatar has been the first country in the Gulf to establish a minimum wage law, minimum allowances for food and accommodation, and to allow migrant workers' representatives in the joint committees at the workplaces (ILO, 2022, pp. 7; 14). On the other hand, this campaign has been defined as hypocritical by the Qatari government, especially in the face of similar blatant human rights violations vis-à-vis the migrant workers occurring in the Western world. For example, in 2005, around 500 Indian men were employed in the US through the government's temporary guestworker programme, the H-2B Visa Programme. It has been discovered that these workers paid exorbitant recruitment fees to obtain the job, endured racist abuses, were threatened with deportation, and were accommodated in overcrowded labor camps (LeBaron, 2020, pp. 90-91). Another example can be the research made on Mexican migrant workers in Canada, who faced several violations and abuses, such as the confiscation of their passport, lack of access to healthcare, exclusion from collective bargaining, and denial of Canadian citizenship also for those cases in which workers have spent most of their lives in Canada (Gabriel & Macdonald, 2014, p. 248). Or, again, let us take as an example the UK's domestic workers' visa system, which put migrant workers in abusive conditions and under the threat of deportation, allowing for forced domestic servitude (McQuade, 2022, p. 33). These are just a few examples to show that modern-day slavery and labor exploitation, far from exceptional, is an endemic issue that characterizes the whole global system rather than a specific issue detectable only in nondemocratic non-Western countries.

As already explained, major sports events usually elicit strong international scrutiny on social or political issues, as happened in the occasion of the 2008 Olympics in Beijing and the 2012 Olympics in London (Brownell, 2012; Timms, 2012); furthermore, similar criticism can also be found during the 2014 World Cup in Brazil, 2016 Summer Olympics in Brazil, and the 2018 World Cup in Russia (Babar, 2022, p. 227). So, one could raise a question: Why was Qatar willing to host the tournament, given the harsh scrutiny and the negative reputational risks? In the previous section, I talked about foreign investments that underwent during the run-up to the tournament in the construction sector from international construction companies listed in the ITUC report (ITUC, 2015b), with an average profit margin for these infrastructure projects estimated to be between 5 and 10 percent of the project value, that is \$15 billion in profit (Ibid. p. 7). However, other aspects that have led to the hosting bid of Qatar have to be considered, namely the enhancement of soft power along with the national branding and the Qatari concurrency with the other GCC countries.

Pursuing soft power and branding aspirations

Soft power can be described as a state's ability to attract and achieve its goals by using persuasive means to gain favor from other actors. Unlike hard power, which relies on a country's economic and military power to accomplish objectives through coercive actions, soft power relies on non-coercive strategies such as cultural appeal and diplomatic efforts (Ganji, 2016, p. 239).

The pursuit of soft power is a national security strategy by Qatar. The origins of this strategy lie in Kuwait's 1990 invasion by Iraq. The event, used by other scholars to explain the exceptionalism of Kuwait (Herb, 2014, p. 63-66), demonstrated the country's exposure to external threats because of the lack of a reliable military force and geographical proximity to Iran and Iraq, and the importance of pursuing a soft power strategy to foster the national security. In this case, the factors that affected Kuwait's political considerations can be considered valid also for Qatar (Ganji, 2016, pp. Therefore, the 2022 World Cup must be considered not only an endeavor to position Qatar as a hub for sports, entertainment, and tourism or a mechanism to attract foreign investments but also an opportunity to enhance Qatar's soft power and its agency in global affairs, in order to position itself as a leading regional and international player. That also explains another reason behind Qatar's abiding by human rights commitment: a successful World Cup was fundamental to gaining a primary position on the international stage, and human rights abuses could have put at risk this diplomatic strategy (Al Thani, 2021, p. 1736).

However, hosting the 2022 World Cup is only the last endeavor of Qatar's soft power strategy. The launching of Al Jazeera in 1996, or the establishment of Education City that promoted Qatar as a center of education and innovation, can also be seen as part of the same strategy.

The idea behind Qatar's soft power aspirations relies upon the idea of positing the country as transparent and accountable, so human rights violations could threaten Qatar of tarnishing this reputation. This rationale can be inferred in a statement released by a Qatari official working in preparation for the World Cup: "I've seen this organisation developing how we ensure workers are protected. ... The groundwork ... was put in [when] we got to a high number of workers. I've been working on [developing these new] procedures, how the [organisation] [can] work with partners such as Building and Wood Worker's International, Amnesty International, Human Rights Watch, Impact and more recently the International Labour Organisation since they have a presence in Qatar. We worked closely with NGOs to make sure... [the protection of] workers are, number one, appreciated ... by [the] people and number two ... we get the right help from [experts] in the field make to we do [the] riaht thing". (Al Thani, 2021, sure 1741). This statement denotes an opening to dialogue and willingness to align domestic labor laws to global standards in order to appear reliable and professional and showcase change and progress; in this sense, the collaboration with international actors, from NGOs to International Organizations, and the creation of Workers' Forum under the technical cooperation with the ILO, illustrate the efforts made in this sense engaging with workers' rights to become more internationally accountable - by the Qatari state (Ibid.).

To sum up, a poor human rights record can negatively affect the country's international reputation, that in turn would impact Qatar's soft power, which would ultimately hamper its neoliberal project. Pursuing a neoliberal development can seem at odds with any commitment to human rights. In fact, the primary concern of neoliberalism is to increase and unleash market efficiency through deregulation, the opening of the domestic market, and privatization in order to create a more attractive environment for foreign capital. A common belief that sustains this policy is the concept that the "invisible hand" of the market will achieve the best economic outcome in terms of efficiency, productivity, and wealth generated overall, eventually trickling down this wealth to the rest of the economy. This fairy tale has been used to justify this purely profit-driven vision, which actually helped to create the conditions for an ever-rising economic inequality within the countries and among them and furthering labor exploitation and precariousness by worsening job conditions for workers. As one of the fathers of neoliberalism, the economist Milton Friedman stated: "There is one and only one social responsibility of business – to use its resources and engage in activities designed to increase its profits" (LeBaron, 2020, p. 71). From this statement, we can add that the only responsibility of states is to facilitate the businesses' operations by creating a field of play that favors this trend (the creation of free trade zones, tax incentives, and the like). Economic growth and development are the primary goals of government policy, and human rights, if not outright conflicting, are subordinated to these goals. However, as I stated before, addressing human rights concerns and improving working conditions for migrant workers is a way for Qatar to enhance its reputation and present itself as a reliable business partner so that it can attract more investments and widen its international reach (Al Thani, 2021, p. 1748).

Overall, a poor human rights record can negatively affect the country's international reputation, that in turn would impact Qatar's soft power, which would ultimately hamper its neoliberal project and the ability to attract investments, tourists, and foreign talent, thereby jeopardizing the Qatar National Vision 2030 and the efforts of diversification from oil.

Competition between GCC states

The other factor to consider when dealing with Qatar and its hosting bid for the World Cup is the climate of competition among the GCC states. They all strove to position themselves in a prominent position within the global market and augment their geopolitical weight; it is a competition to establish which country could be more appealing and attract more foreign investments and tourism. Especially in the last decades, the GCC countries have been competing in several fields, ranging from architecture to infrastructure (Adham, 2008, p. 245; Ziadah, 2018). This competition went beyond the purely economic sphere and resulted in a diplomatic crisis from 2017 to 2021, whereby the other GCC members embargoed Qatar and cut diplomatic relations. However, the 2022 World Cup has been an important factor that helped to mend the political rift within the GCC. In fact, it can be argued that the two most important countries of the GCC, Saudi Arabia and the UAE, saw the economic opportunities tied to this sport event, such as hosting flights, tourism, and hospitality, and wanted a piece of the pie. Therefore, diplomatic and economic considerations drove reestablishing ties with Qatar, which showed the all-around importance of hosting the event (Dorsey & Zidan, 2023). After analyzing why Qatar wanted to host the 2022 World Cup and how it made the country vulnerable to international pressure, the next section will take the NGOs' perspective to understand why their advocacy campaigns have effectively pressured the Qatari state.

Effective advocacy campaigning

The effectiveness of any advocacy campaign rests on the ability to provide information quickly and in a strategic fashion to raise an issue and lobby organizations and governments for policy change. In the case of Qatar and the 2022 World Cup, the transnational advocacy network has been able to frame the issue of abuses on workers in terms of slavery, thereby making it understandable to the public audience in order to elicit attention and spur corrective actions. In this process, NGOs have had a fundamental role in advocacy networks in terms of conveying information and pressuring actions. They were the first organizations to produce informative reports about the abuses of migrants in Qatar immediately in the aftermath of the awarding bid in 2010.

Moreover, together with the trade unions, NGOs have been effective in pressuring international organizations and positing the migrant issue as a priority matter that needs to be dealt with. In this sense, NGOs involved in the Qatar advocacy campaign have used two tactics to pressure these actors: information politics and leverage politics. As explained above, the former is the ability to create politically usable information to have an impact. In contrast, the latter is the ability to call on influential actors to remedy situations where a network cannot be influential in and on itself and needs to involve other more influential actors (Keck et al., 1998, p. 16).

Information politics by NGOs, as already mentioned, rely upon the ability to provide information in a timely and quick fashion. However, in addition to facts, NGOs' reports also provide testimony stories by the people affected by the issue, in this case, migrant workers, framing these stories in terms of right and wrong to elicit a reaction. Nonetheless, it is important that NGOs' reports present a status quo that is not accidental but rather with a clear and identifiable culprit as well as feasible solutions. Problems labeled as structural do not lend themselves to this kind of strategy. In the case of Qatar, it is not the global supply chain and the global capitalistic model that has been favoring this systematic labor exploitation to be put under discussion, but only the specific abuses occurring along the migration corridor from Asia to Qatar. Overall, this tactic is defined as "human rights methodology" that promotes change by reporting facts (Ibid., p. 19; p. 27; p. 183).

On top of that, Keck and Sikkink demonstrated in their pioneering research about transnational advocacy networks that campaigns based on issues revolving around bodily harm to a swathe of populations considered vulnerable in a context in which there is a plain causal chain to attribute the responsibility, and revolving around legal equality of opportunity, are most likely to be effective (Ibid., p. 27; p. 195; p. 205). In the case of the Qatari case, these characteristics can be found, namely the bodily harm to migrant workers, as demonstrated by the reporting of abuses and deaths, a clear causal chain traced back to the Qatari state and the recruitment industry, and a legal inequality whereby worker migrants are entitled to less economic and social rights when compared to the Qatari citizens.

On the other hand, leverage politics can involve the use of material leverage, for example, the withdrawal of military or economic aid to a specific country, or moral leverage. The latter was used in the case of the advocacy campaign against Qatar and is based upon the "mobilization of shame" through international scrutiny. However, this type of action, which is distinguished by its moral character, can be effective, in other words, can pursue any policy change only when the targeted actor cares about international opinion and aspire to raise their position in the international community as a legitimate and credible player (Ibid. p. 23; p. 29); as I demonstrated in the previous two paragraphs, Qatar has all the interests to invest itself in the nurturing of this opinion and in the cultivating of its international image and its public relations.

Will the ILO/Qatar technical cooperation change the status quo?

Although the main purpose of this thesis is to answer the question of why the international pressure brought on by NGOs has been effective in spurring a policy change on behalf of the Qatari state, I think that the advertised "dismantling of the Kafala system" (ILO, 2022, p. 5) raises some important political considerations worth of attention.

First of all, I draw on the analysis of Adam Hanieh (2015) to bring some reflections. According to his analysis, human rights abuses coming from the spatial structuring of class in the Gulf, of which the Kafala is one of the main pillars, are not simply given by unaccountable governance, failure to comply with international norms, or specific interests of Gulf rulers; rather, they reflect the power balance in the world market, which is related in the US geopolitical interests in the region, and the unequal development of the Middle East, which unraveled during the neoliberal transformations of the late 20th century. Thus, his conclusion is that any endeavor of NGOs to improve the condition of migrant workers, if remains limited to the specific government legislation and fails to engage with how the power in the global economic system is designed, is condemned to fail (Hanieh, 2015, p. 72).

Let us take, for example, the spatial structuring of class as described by Hanieh. In his work, he argues that the migration to the Gulf is a process of spatialized class formation; namely, it consists of social relations emerging across different geographical spaces, from the Gulf to Southeast Asia in this case. This phenomenon makes room for exploitation through differential wages related to the cost of labor in the sending countries and through a 'reserve army of labor' that the Gulf can tap into (Ibid., p. 66-67). Although the reform process initiated through the technical collaboration with the ILO has brought on important steps forward regarding migrant workers' rights, such as a minimum salary in the private sector, the possibility to change jobs without the permission of the employer, and the removal of the exit permit, measures that if systematically implemented could enhance the bargaining power of migrant workers, reduce their vulnerability, and improve the competitiveness of the Qatari economy, there are yet important loopholes that need to be addressed. In this case, although the minimum salary could potentially deal with the problem of differential wages, it does not fix the problem related to the 'reserve army of labor.' For example, in August 2022, the Qatari police arrested at least 60 migrant workers who protested for unpaid wages for as long as seven months in construction and hospitality ventures, deporting some of them (The Workers Rights, 2022). The threat of deportation is still one of the main problems that exacerbate the vulnerability of migrant workers in Qatar, a method used by the official authorities, as in this case, or by employers as a retaliation against those workers who want to change their job by denouncing them as absconded, in order to keep the foreign workforce acquiescent in the face of abuses. The threat of deportation exists because of a 'reserve army of labor' that can be tapped at any moment. This 'reserve army of labor' exists because neoliberal reforms have allowed the worsening of the economic conditions in the labor-sending countries, which in turn compel workers to migrate in order to meet their needs. In other words, if the policymaking does not address the causes that create the vulnerability of workers and the design of the international political economy and profit-driven managerial approaches that facilitate the development of competitive advantages through the exploitation of slavery and forced labor, but only the symptoms, the plights of these workers are unlikely to be fixed. Labor market migration is based upon global relations of inequality. This is the core of the problem revolving around labor exploitation, and it has not been addressed yet.

Lastly, another issue resides in the way in which remittances are considered. In 2019, remittances became the largest inflow of capital to developing countries (LeBaron, 2020, p. 97) and are now considered the most important source for these countries' economic development. This logic is entrenched in the concept of the "positive-sum game" that underlies many analyses on economic migration: labor-sending countries benefit from the remittances sent back home by their workforce employed abroad, and labor-receiving countries benefit from the availability of these workers in their economies, especially in the case of labor-poor Gulf countries. However, according to Hanieh, this logic neglects the exploitative nature of the labor-capital relation, in which wages are the symbol of the exploitation and the appropriation of surplus value by the capital, a condition inherent to the capitalist system itself. The greater the difference between the value of the work produced by employees and their wages, the greater the exploitation (Hanieh, 2013, p. 126). The billions of profits generated by the construction industry in Qatar, in the face of the minimum wage of \$275 applied to the workers employed in the private sector, give us an idea of the dimensions of the exploitation suffered by migrant workers.

Perhaps, after the reforms initiated along with the collaboration with the ILO (if effectively implemented), we cannot define the migrant workers' condition in Qatar anymore as modern slavery - it is worth mentioning that legally, slavery in Qatar was abolished in 1952 (Al-Mulla, 2017) - even though there is no international or legal definition of this term (Theron, 2022, p. 189). However, I still define their condition as one of exploitation, in which the Kafala system, or its remnants after the reforms – although it is unclear the level of implementation of these measures – is only one of the main tools that favor this systemic approach based on flexibility, profiteering and taking advantage of the vulnerable swathes of the society. In fact, as stated by the IMF regarding the economy of UAE, a country that can be compared socially and economically to Qatar, the flexible labor policy, giving access to a vast supply of labor at internationally competitive wages, has been a key factor in its competitiveness (2005, pp. 13-14). In this case, 'flexible labor policy' means a policy that allows a state to displace and relocate foreign workers accordingly to their needs, as the Kafala has been doing, and 'internationally competitive wages' means low wages.

Unfortunately, as explained in the previous section, the global capitalistic model and the global supply chain are systemic and have a muddy causal chain assigning responsibility, which, in turn, are hardly amenable to any advocacy network strategy (Keck et al, 1998, p. 27).

7. Conclusions

The thesis dealt with the international pressure brought by international advocacy groups throughout the period of the run-up to the 2022 World Cup in Qatar, which began in 2010 with the awarding of the bid by FIFA. Initiated with a comprehensive literature review on the factors contributing to the endurance of the Kafala system, this study aimed to explore the underlying reasons for Qatar's susceptibility to twelve-year advocacy campaigns. It sought to understand why these campaigns were successful in pressuring Qatar into implementing substantial reforms in labor and migration laws. Although a variety of different reasons played a role in this dynamic, ranging from the international attention brought by a major sport event such as the World Cup of football to the tireless twelve-year advocacy work carried out by international advocacy groups, the thesis found in the neoliberal trajectory of Qatar the most important factor that contributed to making Qatar vulnerable to this type of pressure. As I tried to explain in the last chapter, pursuing a neoliberal development can seem at odds with any commitment to human rights. Nonetheless, the thesis tried to demonstrate how a poor human rights record can negatively affect the country's international reputation, that in turn would impact Qatar's soft power, which would ultimately hamper its neoliberal project.

The first chapter depicts the Qatari background. It describes the characteristics of the Qatari economy and labor market, the functioning of the Kafala system and its engendered abuses on migrant workers, the reaction of the transnational advocacy networks, and the Technical Cooperation Programme between Qatar and ILO that started in 2018. Once the background was given, the second chapter delved into the migration corridor from South and Southeast Asia to the Gulf, particularly Qatar. It has done that by describing the recruitment process in the labor-sending countries in Asia and the type of migration governance affecting this corridor. Moreover, it gave a context to the role played by NGOs in this framework, firstly locating them within this governance and then describing their work of international pressure in practice. Finally, the last chapter, once it introduced the characteristics of the Qatari neoliberal project, focused on the side effects of this political trend and how they compelled Qatar to show commitment to solving the human rights abuses and being open to dialogue and engagement with NGOs and international organizations. It also described the reasons that spurred Qatar to host the 2022 World Cup, although the risk of being espoused to harsh international scrutiny. In this regard, the pursuit of soft power, branding aspirations, and competition among the GCC states have been found as some of the most important factors. Instead, the last part of the chapter, after some considerations about the characteristics that make an advocacy campaign effective, focused on some considerations regarding the effectiveness of the reforms, arguing that if the global labor system is not reformed, these reforms are unlikely to bring some real change to migrant workers.

Another important consideration I tried to state throughout the thesis is the importance of not falling into Orientalist, Islamophobic, or racist depictions to explain the workers' grievances in Qatar. The abuses vis-à-vis the migrant workers are not an exceptional trait of the GCC states. Rather, they are a worldwide characteristic backing the capitalist form of the relation between the capital and the workforce in the Global South as well as the Global North. The guest-workers programs all over the world are a clear example of it.

The ultimate goal of Qatar, as stated in the Qatar National Vision 2030, is to become a knowledge-based economy and attract talented workers in a neoliberal fashion. The thesis considers the reforms as an act of recognition that to carry on neoliberal policies, become global, be a primary actor on the international stage, and be accepted by the mainstream, it was fundamental to concede this kind of political opening. The point is not so much the protection of migrant workers as the possibility of keeping this political-economical trajectory and keeping in place a labor supply chain that continues to allow the exploitation of workers in favor of the growth of the capital. The system remains unaffected. The reforms have served to give a veneer of legitimacy by paying lip service to internationally shared norms and staving off criticism, especially during the period of greatest international attention Qatar has ever had in its short history as a nation-state. The point is that Qatar does not have much other incentive to pursue these reforms once the eye of the storm has passed. This consideration also casts fairly pessimistic lights on Qatar's actual willingness to make the reforms effective, oversee them, and pursue them organically. A working-class with more rights is not something desirable to the Gulf capital, especially mindful of the problems it had with workers' revolts up to the 1970s. The goal is to have an enslaved working class with few rights, detached from the rest of society, and flexible to the needs of capital.

8. Bibliography

Abu Dhabi Dialogue (n.a.). https://abudhabidialogue.org.ae/about-abu-dhabi-dialogue

Adham, K. (2008). Rediscovering the island: Doha's urbanity from Pearls to Spectacle. In Elsheshtawy Y., *The evolving Arab city: tradition, modernity and urban development* (pp. 218-257). London, Routledge.

Al-Mulla, M. I. (2017). History of Slaves in Qatar: Social Reality and Contemporary Political Vision. *Journal of History Culture and Art Research, 6(4),* pp. 85-111.

Al-Shebabi, O. (2015). History of Migration to the Gulf. In A. Khalaf, O. AlShehabi, & A. Hanieh (Eds.), *Transit States: Labour, Migration & Citizenship in the Gulf* (pp. 3-38). Pluto Press.

Al-Shehabi, O. (2019). Policing Labour in Empire: The Modern Origins of the Kafala Sponsorship System in the Gulf Arab States. *British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*, 48(2), 291-310.

Al Thani, M. (2021). Channeling Soft Power: The Qatar 2022 World Cup, Migrant Workers, and International image. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 38(17)*, pp. 1729-1752.

Amnesty International (2011). False promises. Exploitation and forced labour of Nepalese migrant workers.

Babar, Z. (2022). Qatar, the World Cup, and the Global Campaign for Migrant Workers' Rights. In A. Al-Arian (Ed.), *Football in the Middle East: State, Society, and the Beautiful Game.* Oxford University Press.

Babar, Z., & Vora, N. (2022). The 2022 World Cup and migrants' rights in Qatar: Racialised labor hierarchies and the influence of racial capitalism. *The political quarterly,* pp. 498-507.

Ball, R., & Piper, N. (2002). Globalisation and regulation of citizenship -Filipino migrant workers in Japan. *Political Geography, 21*, pp. 1013–1034.

Beblawi, H. (1987). 'The Rentier State in the Arab World'. Arab Studies Quarterly, 9(4), 383-398.

Blarel, N., & Ennis, C.A. (2022). Mapping and Theorizing Migration Governance: Insights from the South-to-West Asian Migration Corridor. In *The South Asia to Gulf Migration Governance Complex* (pp. 3–32). Bristol University Press

Brownell, S. (2012). Human Rights and the Beijing Olympics: Imagined Global Community and the Transnational Public Sphere. *British Journal of Sociology* 63, 306-27.

Buckley, M. (2014). On the Work of Urbanization: Migration, Construction Labor, and the Commodity Moment. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 104(2), 338-347.

Buckley, M. (2015). Construction Work, 'Bachelor' Builders and the Intersectional Politics of Urbanisation in Dubai. In A. Khalaf, O. AlShehabi, & A. Hanieh (Eds.), *Transit States: Labour, Migration & Citizenship in the Gulf* (pp. 132-149). Pluto Press.

Business and Human Rights Centre (2016). *Netherlands Trade Union Confederation sues Fifa over alleged complicity in the mistreatment of migrant workers in Qatar*. https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/latest-news/netherlands-trade-union-confederation-sues-fifa-over-alleged-complicity-in-the-mistreatment-of-migrant-workers-in-qatar/

Business and Human Rights Centre (2022). World Cup 2022: #PayUpFIFA campaign calls on FIFA & Qatar to establish comprehensive & participatory remedy process for worker abuse. https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/latest-news/world-cup-2022-hrw-launch-payupfifa-campaign-calling-on-fifa-qatar-to-establish-comprehensive-participatory-remedy-process-for-worker-abuse/

BWI website (n.a.). *Qatar: BWI welcomes important progress for workers' rights.* https://www.bwint.org/cms/qatar-bwi-welcomes-important-progress-for-workers-rights-1997

Cahill D., and Konings, M. (2017). Neoliberalism. Polity Press.

Compliance Week (2016). *Dutch trade union brings legal action against FIFA.* https://www.complianceweek.com/dutch-trade-union-brings-legal-action-against-fifa/2887.article

Damir-Geilsdorf, S. (2016). Contract labor and debt bondage in the Arab Gulf States. Policies and practices within the Kafala system. In S. Damir-Geilsdorf, U. Lindner, G. Müller, O. Tappe, & M. Zeuske, *Bonded Labour*. *Global and comparative perspectives (18th- 21th century)*. Pp. 163-189. Columbia University Press.

De Bel-Air, F. (2014). Demography, migration, and labour market in Qatar. *Gulf Labour Markets and Migration*.

Deutsche Welle (2022). Fact check: How many people died for the Qatar World Cup? https://www.dw.com/en/fact-check-how-many-people-have-died-for-the-gatar-world-cup/a-63763713

Diop, A., Johnston, T., & Trung Le, K. (2018). Migration Policies across the GCC: Challenges in Reforming the Kafala. In P. Fargues & NM. Shah (Eds.), *Migration to the Gulf: Policies in Sending and Receiving Countries* (pp. 33-60). Gulf Research Centre Cambridge.

Dito, M. (2015). Kafala: Foundations of Migration Exclusion in GCC Labour Markets. In A. Khalaf, O. AlShehabi, & A. Hanieh (Eds.), *Transit States: Labour, Migration & Citizenship in the Gulf* (pp. 79-100). Pluto Press.

Dorsey, J. (2014). The 2022 World Cup: A potential monkey wrench for change. *International Journal of the History of Sport 31(14)*. Pp. 1739-1754.

Dorsey, M., & Zidan, K. (2023). *Interview: The Qatar World Cup has come and gone, but the debates continue*. https://jamesmdorsey.substack.com/p/the-qatar-world-cup-has-come-and?utm source=substack&utm medium=email

ECCHR (2018). Accountability for forced labor in a globalized economy. Lessons and challenges in litigation, with examples from Qatar.

Economy Middle East (2022). *Qatar's population sees 13.2% increase ahead of World Cup.* https://economymiddleeast.com/news/qatars-population-sees-13-2-increase-ahead-of-world-cup/

Endo, I., & Afram, G. (2011). The Qatar Nepal Remittance Corridor: Enhancing the Impact and Integrity of Remittance Flows by Reducing Inefficiencies in the Migration Process. *Washington, DC: World Bank*.

European Parliament (2013). European Parliament resolution of 21 November 2013 on Qatar: situation of migrant workers (2013/2952(RSP)).

Equidem (2022a). We work like robots. https://laborrights.org/sites/default/files/publications/Equidem We Work Like Robots Report.pdf

Equidem (2022b). FIFA misleading world on remedy for migrant workers. https://www.equidem.org/blogs/fifa-misleading-world-on-remedy-for-migrant-workers

FIFA (2022). Gianni Infantino says World Cup spotlight has led to better workers' rights in Qatar. https://www.fifa.com/about-fifa/president/news/gianni-infantino-says-world-cup-spotlight-has-led-to-better-workers-rights

Forbes (2022). *Qatar World Cup controversy continues: 60 migrant workers arrested protesting dire conditions.* https://www.forbes.com/sites/dereksaul/2022/08/22/qatar-world-cup-controversy-continues-60-migrant-workers-arrested-protesting-dire-conditions/

Freedom United (n.a.). Field report: modern slavery in FIFA construction (Qatar). https://www.freedomunited.org/our-impact/fifa%E2%80%AF-modern-slavery-qatar/

Gabriel, C., & Macdonald, L. (2014). Domestic transnationalism: legal advocacy for Mexican migrant workers' rights in Canada. *Citizenship studies*, 18, pp. 243-258.

Ganji, S. K. (2016). Leveraging the World Cup: Mega Sporting Events, Human Rights Risk, and Worker Welfare Reform in Qatar. *Journal on Migration and Human Security*, 4(4), pp. 221-259.

Ganji, S. K. (2022). How Qatar became a World leader in sportswashing. Journal of Democracy.

Geiger, A. (2015). Regional frameworks for managing migration and the role of civil society organizations. In M. Caballero-Anthony & T. Menju, *Asia on the move. Regional migration and the role of civil society (pp. 183-201).*Japan Center for International Exchange.

George, S. (1999). *A Short History of Neoliberalism*. https://www.tni.org/en/article/a-short-history-of-neoliberalism

Gulf Labour Markets and Migration (n.a.). *Some estimates of foreign residents in Qatar by country of citizenship.* https://gulfmigration.grc.net/qatar-estimates-foreign-residents-qatar-country-citizenship-selected-countries-c-2015-2016/

Hamadah, F. (2022). Kafala and Social Reproduction: Migration Governance Regimes and Labour Relations in the Gulf. In *The South Asia to Gulf Migration Governance Complex* (pp. 173-189). Bristol University Press

Hanieh, A. (2013). Lineages of revolt: issues of contemporary capitalism in the Middle East. Haymarket Books.

Hanieh, A. (2015a). Overcoming Methodological Nationalism: Spatial Perspectives on Migration to the Gulf Arab States. In A. Khalaf, O. AlShehabi, & A. Hanieh (Eds.), *Transit States: Labour, Migration & Citizenship in the Gulf* (pp. 57–76). Pluto Press.

Hanieh, A. (2015b). Migrant rights in the Gulf: charting the way forward. In A. Khalaf, O. AlShehabi, & A. Hanieh (Eds.), *Transit States: Labour, Migration & Citizenship in the Gulf* (pp. 223–232). Pluto Press.

Hann, M. (2015). *Pressure group, unions want FIFA sponsors to act on Qatar.* https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-soccer-fifa-qatar-idUKKBN0O318820150518

Herb. M. (2014). The Wages of Oil. Parliaments and Economic Development in Kuwait and the UAE. Cornell University Press.

Heerdt, D. (2021). Legal responsibilities for promoting human rights and preventing human rights abuses in relation to large sporting events, in Heerdt Daniela & Naess Hans Erik, Large sporting events: human rights as a game changer?, Policy Department for External Relations of the European Parliament.

Human Rights Watch (2012). Building a Better World Cup: Protecting migrant workers in Qatar ahead of FIFA 2022.

Human Rights Watch (2015). *Qatar: New Reforms Won't protect Migrant Workers.*https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/11/08/qatar-new-reforms-wont-protect-migrant-workers

Human Rights Watch (2020). *Qatar. Events of 2019.* https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2020/country-chapters/qatar

ILO website (n.a.)

https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103429

ILO (2004). Qatar Labor Law No. 14 of 2004. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/1037/Law%20No%20(14)%20of%20the%20Year%202004.pdf

ILO (2014). Report of the committee set up to examine the representation alleging non-observance by Qatar

of the Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29), made under article 24 of the ILO Constitution by the International Trade Union Confederation and the Building and Woodworkers International. 320th Session, Geneva, 13-27 March 2016. GB.320/INS/14/8.

ILO (2015). Qatar Labor Law No. 21 of 2015. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p_lang=en&p_isn=102231

ILO (2016). Complaint concerning non-observance by Qatar of the Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29), and the Labour Inspection Convention, 1947 (No. 81), made by delegates to the 103rd Session (2014) of the International Labour Conference under article 26 of the ILO Constitution. GB.326/INS/8

ILO (2017a). Qatar Labor Law No. 1 of 2017. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/MONOGRAPH/105098/128417/F798890908/QAT105098%20Eng.pdf

ILO (2017b). Qatar Labor Law No. 13 of 2017. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p_lang=en&p_isn=104948&p_count=1&p_classification=01.

ILO (2018). Qatar Labor Law No. 13 of 2018. http://ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p lang=en&p isn=107340

ILO (2020a). Qatar Labor Law No. 17 of 2020. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p lang=en&p isn=110485&p count=3&p classification=12

ILO (2020b). Qatar Labor Law No. 19 of 2020. https://www.ilo.org/beirut/countries/qatar/WCMS_754881/lang--en/index.htm

ILO (2022). Labour reforms in the State of Qatar. Coming together around a shared vision.

IMF (2005). United Arab Emirates: Selected issues and statistical appendix. Country Report No. 05/268. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2005/cr05268.pdf

IMF (2022). Article IV Consultation – Press release; staff and report. IMF country report No. 22/175.

ITUC (2015). Cambodian Government Set to Further Weaken Labour Rights and Export Workers to Qatar.

https://www.ituc-csi.org/cambodian-government-set-to?lang=en

ITUC (2015b). Qatar: Profit and Loss. Counting the cost of modern day slavery in Qatar: What price is freedom?

Kakande, Y. (2015). Slave States: The Practice of Kafala in the Gulf Arab Region. Zero Books.

Kanna, A., Le Renard, A., & Vora, N. (2020). Ethnography from the Exceptional to the Everyday. In *Beyond Exception: New Interpretations of the Arabian Peninsula* (pp. 1-25). Cornel University Press

Kanna, A. (2020). Class Struggle and De-exceptionalizing the Gulf. In A. Kanna, A. Le Renard, & N. Vora, *Beyond Exception: New Interpretations of the Arabian Peninsula* (pp. 100-122). Cornel University Press

Kapiszewski, A. (2006). Arab Versus Asian Migrant Workers in the GCC Countries. Paper presented at the United Nations Expert Group Meeting on International Migration and Development in the Arab Region, Population Division, Department of Social and Economic Affairs, United Nations Secretariat, Beirut

Keita, M., Anna, K., Mandour, M., & El-Hage, J. (2022). Qatar's human rights record in the world's spotlight. Human Rights Foundation.

Keck, M. E., & Sikkink, K. (1998). Activists beyond borders. Advocacy networks in international politics. Cornell University Press.

Khalaf, A. (2015). The Politics of Migration. In A. Khalaf, O. AlShehabi, & A. Hanieh (Eds.), *Transit States:* Labour, Migration & Citizenship in the Gulf (pp. 39-56). Pluto Press.

LeBaron, G. (2020). Combatting modern slavery. Why labor governance is failing and what we can do about it. Polity Press.

McQuade, A. (2022). Modern slavery in global context: ending the political economy of forced labor and slavery. In G. Craig, A. Balch, H. Lewis, and L. Waite, *The modern slavery agenda*. Cambridge University Press

Middle East Business Intelligence (2013). *Italy's Impregilo-led consortium confirms Doha metro contract*. https://www.meed.com/italys-impregilo-led-consortium-confirms-doha-metro-contract/

Migration Forum in Asia (2017). Third informal thematic session: International cooperation and governance of migration in all its dimensions including at borders, on transit, entry, return, readmission, integration and reintegration. Geneva, June 19-20, 2017.

Migration Forum in Asia (n.a.). https://mfasia.org/mfa programs/advocacy/colombo-process/

Migration Forum in Asia (n.a.). Policy brief: Reform of the Kafala (Sponsorship) system.

Millward, P. (2017). World Cup 2022 and Qatar's construction projects: Relational power in networks and relational responsibilities to migrant workers. *Current Sociology*, pp. 756-776.

ONHCR Website (retrieved in April 2023). https://indicators.ohchr.org/

Piper, N., & Foley, L. (2021). Global partnerships in governing labour migration: the uneasy relationship between the ILO and IOM in the promotion of decent work for migrants. *Global Public Policy and Governance*, (1), pp. 256-278.

Piper, N., & Grugel, J. (2015). Global migration governance, social movements, and the difficulties of promoting migrant rights. In C. U. Schierup (ed.) et al. *Migration, precarity, and global governance: challenges and opportunities for labor (pp. 261-278)*. Oxford University Press.

Piper, N., Rother, S., & Ruland, J. (2018). Challenging state sovereignty in the age of migration. *European journal of East Asian Studies*, *17*, pp. 118-133.

Piper, N., & Rother, S. (2022). Governing regional migration from the bottom-up: a nodal approach to the role of transnational activist networks in Asia. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 48(12), pp. 2927-2944.

Qatargas website (2023). https://www.qatargas.com/english/aboutus/north-field

Qatar Census (2015). Planning and Statistics Authority. https://www.psa.gov.qa/en/statistics/Statistical%20Releases/General/Census/Population Households_Est ablishment QSA Census AE 2015.pdf

Qatar Census (2020). Planning and Statistics Authority. https://www.psa.gov.qa/Style%20Library/PSA/CensusDetailedResults/documents/Qatar Census 2022_Fin al_Results.pdf

Qatar Legal Portal (2009). Law No. 4 of 2009. https://www4.aucegypt.edu/CMRS/Files/Law 4 2009 2611.pdf

Qatar National Vision 2030 (2008), General Secretariat for Development Planning. https://www.gco.gov.qa/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/GCO-QNV-English.pdf

Qatar Tribune (2022). *ARTIC and Delta Hotels by Marriott debuts in Qatar*. https://www.qatar-tribune.com/article/27272/nation/artic-and-delta-hotels-by-marriott-debuts-in-qatar

Russell, S. (2017a). Have we won? https://www.playfairqatar.org.uk/category/campaign-update/

Russell, S. (2017b). Playfair Qatar Update. https://www.playfairqatar.org.uk/playfair-qatar-update/

Russell, S. (2022). 5 Years later... https://www.playfairqatar.org.uk/2022/11/

Salazar, N. B., Timmerman, C., Wets, J., Gato, L. G., & Van den Broucke, S. (2017). Mega-Event Mobilities: A critical analysis. London; New York: Routledge.

Seidman, W. (2004). Deflated Citizenship Labor Rights in a Global Era. In A. Brysk & G. Shafir (Eds.), People Out of Place Globalization, Human Rights, and the Citizenship Gap (109 129). London; New York: Routledge.

Stella Morgana, M. (2022). Bottom-up politics of labour migration: perspectives from the South-to-West Asia corridor for a more inclusive governance. In *The South Asia to Gulf Migration Governance Complex* (pp. 213–227). Bristol University Press.

Ter Haar, B. (2018). FIFA, Qatar, Kafala: Can the World Cup create a better world of work? *International Labor Rights Case Law, 4.1, pp. 128-132.*

The Economist (2013). Forget about rights. https://www.economist.com/middle-east-and-africa/2013/08/10/forget-about-rights

The Guardian (2015). World Cup sponsors should pressurize Qatar 2022 over workers, says MP. https://www.theguardian.com/football/2015/may/18/fifa-tory-mp-damian-collins-world-cup-qatar

The Guardian (2021). Revealed: 6,500 migrant workers have died in Qatar since World Cup awarded. https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/feb/23/revealed-migrant-worker-deaths-qatar-fifa-world-cup-2022

The Guardian (2022). Female migrant workers speak out about harassment in Qatar's World Cup hotels. https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2022/nov/17/female-migrant-workers-speak-out-about-harassment-in-qatar-world-cup-hotels

The National News (2022). 11 new hotels opening in Qatar ahead of the World Cup. https://www.thenationalnews.com/fifa-world-cup-2022/2022/09/20/11-new-hotels-opening-in-qatar-ahead-of-the-world-cup/

The Tribune (2013). *Football: trade unionists protest outside FIFA over Qatar workers.* https://tribune.com.pk/story/613072/football-trade-unionists-protest-outside-fifa-over-gatar-workers

Theron, C. (2022). Modern slavery and transparency in supply chains: the role of business. In G. Craig, A. Balch, H. Lewis & L. Waite, *The Modern Slavery Agenda* (pp. 187-217). Cambridge University Press.

Timms, J. (2012). The Olympics as a platform for protest: a case study of the London 2012 'ethical' Games and the Play Fair campaign for workers' rights. *Leisure Studies*, 31, pp. 355-372.

TUC (2022). "I have nothing" – Workers' rights and the Qatar 2022 World Cup. https://www.tuc.org.uk/research-analysis/reports/i-have-nothing-qatar-2022-world-cup

Williamson, J. (1990). What Washington Means by Policy Reform (Washington: Peterson Institute for International Economics).

Ziadah, R. (2018). Constructing a logistics space: perspectives from the Gulf Cooperation Council. Environment and Planning D: Society and Space. 36(4), pp. 666-682.

Zutec website (n.a.). https://www.zutec.com/project/hamad-international-airport/